
Gareth Owens LL.B Barrister/Bargyfreithiwr
Chief Officer (Governance)
Prif Swyddog (Llywodraethu)

1

Swyddog Cyswllt:
Janet Kelly / 01352 702301
janet.kelly@flintshire.gov.uk

At: Julia Hughes (Cadeirydd)

Y Cynghorwyr: Teresa Carberry, Davies, Guest, Morgan, Murgatroyd, 
Andrew Parkhurst and Antony Wren

Dydd Mawrth, 28 Mehefin 2022

Annwyl Gynghorydd,

RHYBUDD O GYFARFOD ANGHYSBELL
PWYLLGOR SAFONAU

DYDD LLUN, 4YDD GORFFENNAF, 2022 6.00 PM

* Bydd y sesiwn hyfforddiant ar gyfer aelodau’r Pwyllgor Safonau yn cael ei
chynnal o 6.00pm tan 6.30pm *

Yn gywir

Steven Goodrum
Rheolwr Gwasanaethau Democrataidd

Bydd y cyfarfod yn cael ei ffrydio’n fyw ar wefan y Cyngor.  Bydd recordiad o’r 
cyfarfod ar gael yn fuan ar ôl y cyfarfod ar https://flintshire.publici.tv/core/portal/home

Os oes gennych unrhyw ymholiadau, cysylltwch ag aelod o’r Tîm Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd ar 01352 702345.

Pecyn Dogfen Gyhoeddus

https://flintshire.publici.tv/core/portal/home


2

R H A G L E N

1 YMDDIHEURIADAU 
Pwrpas: I dderbyn unrhyw ymddiheuriadau.

2 DATGAN CYSYLLTIAD (GAN GYNNWYS DATGANIADAU CHWIPIO) 
Pwrpas: I dderbyn unrhyw ddatganiad o gysylltiad a chynghori’r Aelodau 
yn unol a hynny.

3 COFNODION (Tudalennau 5 - 10)
Pwrpas: I gadarnhau, fel cofnod cywir gofnodion y cyfarfod ar 6 Mehefin 
2022.

EITEMAU ER GWYBODAETH

4 RHAGLEN GYNEFINO AR GYFER CYNGHORWYR (Tudalennau 11 - 26)
Pwrpas: Hysbysu’r Pwyllgor am y sesiynau hyfforddiant moesegol i’w 
darparu fel rhan o’r rhaglen gynefino ar gyfer Cynghorwyr ar ôl yr etholiadau.

5 CYNHADLEDD SAFONAU CYMRU GYFAN 2022 ADRODDIAD YN ÔL 
(Tudalennau 27 - 120)
Pwrpas: Rhoi gwybod i'r Aelodau am Gynhadledd Safonau Cymru Gyfan 
2022 a gynhaliwyd ar ddydd Mercher 9 Chwefror.

6 DIWEDDARIAD AR GREU FFORWM CENEDLAETHOL I AELODAU 
ANNIBYNNOL (Tudalennau 121 - 124)
Pwrpas: Rhoi diweddariad i’r Pwyllgor ynghylch a oes digon o gefnogaeth 
i sefydlu Fforwm Cenedlaethol i Aelodau Annibynnol.

7 ADOLYGIAD PARHAUS O'R CYFANSODDIAD (Tudalennau 125 - 128)
Pwrpas: Cytuno ar raglen i adolygu’r holl Godau a Phrotocolau yn y 
Cyfansoddiad yn ystod tymor pum mlynedd y Cyngor hwn.

8 RHAGLEN GWAITH I'R DYFODOL (Tudalennau 129 - 130)
Pwrpas: Er mwyn i’r Pwyllgor ystyried testunau i’w cynnwys ar y Rhaglen 
Gwaith i'r Dyfodol.



3

EITEMAU ER PENDERFYNIAD

9 GODDEFEBAU 
Pwrpas: Derbyn unrhyw geisiadau am oddefebau.

Bydd aelodau'r wasg / y cyhoedd yn gallu aros yn y cyfarfod tra bydd cais am 
ryddhad yn cael ei gyflwyno i'r Pwyllgor a bydd yn gallu dychwelyd i glywed 
penderfyniad y Pwyllgor. Fodd bynnag, o dan Baragraff 18C Atodlen 12A 
Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972 bydd y Pwyllgor yn gwahardd y wasg a'r 
cyhoedd o'r cyfarfod tra bydd yn ystyried unrhyw gais am ryddhad.

Sylwch, efallai y bydd egwyl o 10 munud os yw’r cyfarfod yn para’n hirach na 
dwy awr.



4

Nodyn Gweithdrefnol ar redeg cyfarfodydd

Bydd y Cadeirydd yn agor y cyfarfodydd ac yn cyflwyno eu hunain.

Bydd nifer o Gynghorwyr yn mynychu cyfarfodydd. Bydd swyddogion hefyd yn 
mynychu cyfarfodydd i gyflwyno adroddiadau, gyda swyddogion Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd yn trefnu a chynnal y cyfarfodydd.  

Gofynnir i bawb sy’n mynychu i sicrhau bod eu ffonau symudol wedi diffodd a bod 
unrhyw sain gefndirol yn cael ei gadw mor dawel â phosib.  

Dylai’r holl feicroffonau gael eu rhoi “ar miwt” yn ystod y cyfarfod a dim ond pan 
fyddwch yn cael eich gwahodd i siarad gan y Cadeirydd y dylid eu rhoi ymlaen. Pan 
fydd gwahoddedigion wedi gorffen siarad dylen nhw roi eu hunain yn ôl “ar miwt”.

Er mwyn mynegi eu bod nhw eisiau siarad bydd Cynghorwyr yn defnyddio’r 
cyfleuster ‘chat’ neu yn defnyddio’r swyddogaeth ‘raise hand’ sy’n dangos eicon codi 
llaw electronig. Mae’r swyddogaeth ‘chat’ hefyd yn gallu cael ei ddefnyddio i ofyn 
cwestiynau, i wneud sylwadau perthnasol ac yn gyfle i’r swyddog gynghori neu 
ddiweddaru’r cynghorwyr.

Bydd y Cadeirydd yn galw ar y siaradwyr, gan gyfeirio at aelod etholedig fel 
‘Cynghorydd’ a swyddogion yn ôl eu teitl swydd h.y. Prif Weithredwr neu enw.  O 
bryd i’w gilydd mae’r swyddog sy’n cynghori’r Cadeirydd yn egluro pwyntiau 
gweithdrefnol neu’n awgrymu geiriad arall ar gyfer cynigion er mwyn cynorthwyo’r 
Pwyllgor. 

Os, a phan y cynhelir pleidlais, mi fydd y Cadeirydd yn egluro mai dim ond y rheiny 
sy’n gwrthwynebu’r cynnig/cynigion, neu sy’n dymuno ymatal a fydd angen mynegi 
hynny drwy ddefnyddio’r swyddogaeth ‘chat’.  Bydd y swyddog sy’n cynghori’r 
Cadeirydd yn mynegi os bydd y cynigion yn cael eu derbyn. 

Os oes angen pleidlais fwy ffurfiol, bydd hynny yn ôl galwad enwau – lle gofynnir i 
bob Cynghorydd yn ei dro (yn nhrefn yr wyddor) sut mae ef / hi yn dymuno 
pleidleisio.

Yng nghyfarfodydd Pwyllgorau Cynllunio a Chyngor Sir mae amseroedd siaradwyr 
yn gyfyngedig.  Bydd cloch yn cael ei chanu i roi gwybod i’r siaradwyr bod ganddyn 
nhw funud ar ôl. 

Bydd y cyfarfod yn cael ei ffrydio’n fyw ar wefan y Cyngor.  Bydd recordiad o’r 
cyfarfod ar gael yn fuan ar ôl y cyfarfod ar 
https://flintshire.publici.tv/core/portal/home 

https://flintshire.publici.tv/core/portal/home


STANDARDS COMMITTEE
6TH JUNE 2022

Minutes of the meeting of the Standards Committee of Flintshire County Council 
held as a remote attendance meeting on Monday, 6th June 2022

PRESENT: Julia Hughes (Chair)
Councillors:
Teresa Carberry, Andrew Parkhurst and Antony Wren

Co-opted members:
Jacqueline Guest, Mark Morgan and Gill Murgatroyd

IN ATTENDANCE:
Monitoring Officer, Deputy Monitoring Officer and Team Leader – Democratic 
Services

APOLOGIES:
David Wyn Davies

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (INCLUDING WHIPPING DECLARATIONS)

Councillor Wren decaled a personal and prejudicial interest in agenda 
item number 5 – Overview of Ethical Complaints.

Councillor Parkhurst declared personal and prejudicial interests in 
agenda item numbers 4 – Welsh Government Guidance on the Duty of Group 
Leaders to Promote Ethical Behaviour and 5 – Overview of Ethical Complaints.

It was agreed that there would be a change in the order of the remaining 
agenda items to be considered in the following order: 7; 3; 6; 4 and 5.

2. DISPENSATIONS

The Monitoring Officer explained that two dispensation requests had 
been received.

Councillor Bill Crease

Councillor Crease sought dispensation to write to or speak with officers 
of Connah’s Quay Town Council and Flintshire County Council, write to, speak 
and/or answer questions at Council/Committee meetings at Connah’s Quay 
Town Council and Flintshire County Council, to remain in the room during any 
debate, and to vote at Council and Planning Committee at both Connah’s Quay 
Town Council and Flintshire County Council.  The details of the request related 
to him being a plotholder at Mill Lane Allotments.  His wife was also a plotholder 
at Mill Lane Allotments.  He was also Chair of Mill Lane Allotment Association.  

He felt that his background knowledge, including being chair of Mill Lane 
Allotment Association, would bring expertise to any discussions on allotments.  

Tudalen 5

Eitem ar gyfer y Rhaglen 3



He felt he would be at a disadvantage if he could not contribute at meetings, 
especially given the recent change in legislation that allowed members of the 
public to speak at meetings.

Councillor Antony Wren

Councillor Wren sought dispensation to write to or speak with officers of 
Connah’s Quay Town Council and Flintshire County Council, write to, speak 
and/or answer questions at Council/Committee meetings at Connah’s Quay 
Town Council and Flintshire County Council, to remain in the room during any 
debate, and to vote at Council and Planning Committee at both Connah’s Quay 
Town Council and Flintshire County Council.  The details of the request related 
to him being an allotment tenant at Mill Lane Allotments, Connah’s Quay (owned 
by Flintshire County Council, Leased by Connah’s Quay Town Council), he was 
Secretary of Mill Lane Allotment Association, a member of Standards Committee 
at Flintshire County Council and no more/less than any other tenant.

He explained that his wife was also a plotholder at the same allotments.  
His reasons for seeking the dispensation were the same as Councillor Crease.

The Monitoring Officer provided advice to the Committee on the granting 
of dispensations and commented on similar applications that had previously been 
brought before the Standards Committee. 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 - TO 
CONSIDER THE EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

At this point, the Chairman proposed that the meeting move into closed 
session - as provided for under the Local Government (Access to Information) 
Act 1985.  This was seconded by Gill Murgatroyd.

Councillors Crease and Wren were put into the virtual waiting room and 
the live streaming of the meeting was paused.

RESOLVED:

That the press and public be excluded from the meeting as the item was 
considered to be exempt by virtue of paragraph 18C of Part 4 of Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).

Following the debate, Councillors Crease and Wren were re-admitted to 
the meeting and the live streaming recommenced. 

RESOLVED:

(a) That Connah’s Quay Town Councillor and Flintshire County Councillor 
Bill Crease be granted dispensation under paragraphs (d) and (f) of the 
Standards Committee (Grant of Dispensations) (Wales) Regulations 
2001 to write and speak to officers of Connah’s Quay Town Council and 
Flintshire County Council and speak to and answer questions at any 

Tudalen 6



Connah’s Quay Town Council and Flintshire County Council meetings or 
working groups/sub-committees but must leave the room whilst the issue 
is debated or voted on.  When speaking to officers there must be an 
independent witness present and there must be minutes taken of any 
such meetings.  The dispensation to be granted for 12 months, ceasing 
on 5th June 2023.  

(b) That Connah’s Quay Town Councillor and Flintshire County Councillor 
Antony Wren be granted dispensation under paragraphs (d) and (f) of the 
Standards Committee (Grant of Dispensations) (Wales) Regulations 
2001 to write and speak to officers of Connah’s Quay Town Council and 
Flintshire County Council and speak to and answer questions at any 
Connah’s Quay Town Council and Flintshire County Council meetings or 
working groups/sub-committees but must leave the room whilst the issue 
is debated or voted on.  When speaking to officers there must be an 
independent witness present and there must be minutes taken of any 
such meetings.  The dispensation to be granted for 12 months, ceasing 
on 5th June 2023.  

3. MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting held on 10th January 2022 were approved as 
a correct record.  Cllr Wren abstained as he was not at the meeting.

Matters arising

Minute Number 36
Race Equality Action Plan – the Monitoring Officer confirmed that Action 

Plan had been circulated.  

Code of Conduct Training – the Monitoring Officer confirmed that two 
sessions were being provided.  

Minute Number 37
National Forum for the Chairs of Standards Committees – the Monitoring 

Officer had not received replies from all Councils but of those he had, the 
suggestion appeared to be supported.  An update would be provided at the next 
meeting.

Minute Number 39

Independent Member Visits to Council Meetings – the Monitoring Officer 
explained that these would commence later in the year to allow new Councillors 
to settle into their newly elected role.  

RESOLVED:

That the minutes be approved as a correct record.

Tudalen 7



4. FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME

The Monitoring Officer presented the Forward Work Programme for 
consideration which were for July, including the one suggested above:

 All Wales Standards Conference 2022 report back
 Rolling Review of the Constitution 
 Induction Programme for Councillors
 Creation of the Independent Forum for the whole of Wales
 Forward Work Programme

In response to a suggestion from Gill Murgatroyd, the Monitoring Officer 
said he would prepare suggestions for each meeting until the end of the 
financial year, which would include the Independent Member Visits to Council 
Meetings, and the Standards Committee Annual Report.  

RESOLVED:

That the Forward Work Programme be approved and that suggestions be 
prepared for each meeting from September onwards, including the Independent 
Member Visits to Council Meetings and the Standards Committee Annual 
Report.

3. WELSH GOVERNMENT GUIDANCE ON THE DUTY OF GROUP LEADERS 
TO PROMOTE ETHICAL BEHAVIOUR

The Monitoring Officer presented the report and explained that the Local 
Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 imposed a new duty on Group 
Leaders to take reasonable steps to promote and maintain high standards of 
conduct by members of their group.  It also imposed a duty as part of its new 
annual report.

Group Leaders and the Committee must have regard to statutory 
guidance issued by Welsh Government (WG). It has previously considered an 
early draft of that guidance.  A consultation draft of the guidance was issued 
earlier in the year; it was broadly the same as the previous guidance in that it 
set out the ways in which a Group Leader might promote good conduce and 
suggested that it would bring their position into disrepute if they failed to do so.  
A notable difference was in respect of the reporting function which was now less 
detailed. 

The consultation period opened in February and in May which largely 
coincided with the pre-election period.  It was therefore not possible to report 
the draft guidance to the Committee before now.

A copy of the draft template report was appended to the report, as was 
draft responses to the consultation.  The statutory guidance would be discussed 
with Group Leaders on 27th June 2022.

Tudalen 8



It was agreed that the draft responses to the consultation would be 
submitted to Welsh Government with an explanation as to why the response 
was late.

RESOLVED:

(a) That the proposed guidance be noted; and

(b) That the draft responses to the consultation be submitted to Welsh 
Government with an explanation as to why the response was late.

4. OVERVIEW OF ETHICAL COMPLAINTS

The Monitoring Officer presented the report and explained that it showed 
a summary of the ethical complaints alleging a breach of the Code that had 
been submitted to the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW).  In line 
with the Committee’s resolution, the complaints distinguished between different 
Councils and Councillors whilst remaining anonymous.

The report provided an understanding of the number and types of 
complaints being made, and the outcome of consideration by the PSOW.  Since 
the last report in November 2021, seven complaints had been received.  Five 
cased had been determined, with none being investigated by the PSOW as they 
failed the 2 stage test.  Two complaints were recent and the PSOW was 
deciding whether to investigate.  One complaint related to abuse of a clerk 
during a public meeting and was being investigated.

The majority theme with the complaints covered in the report was social 
media, with four of the seven relating to comments made online.  The 
Committee was familiar with the difficulties surrounding the use of social media 
and the protection for freedom of political expression.  The code provided a very 
low safety net in relation to poor or challenging behaviour.  The induction 
training encouraged Councillors to allow other Councillors to hold a different 
opinion without being berated, vilified, or ridiculed.

In response to a question from Julia Hughes, the Monitoring Officer 
explained that the importance of this was conveyed to new Members in the 
Code of Conduct training sessions, which was also given to members of Town 
and Community Councils.

RESOLVED:

That the number and type of complaints be noted.

(The meeting started at 6.30 p.m. and ended at 8.25 p.m.)

…………………………
Chair

Tudalen 9



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn bwrpasol



STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

Date of Meeting Monday, 4 July 2022

Report Subject Induction Programme for Councillors

Report Author Democratic Services Manager

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

As part of our preparations for the County Council elections in May and the 
arrangements for a new Council, a comprehensive Member Induction programme 
was devised.  This report gives details of the induction which was carried out 
during May, and proposals for continuing member development over the next year.

As well as covering basic knowledge elements (e.g. committee structures), there 
were, pertinent to the work of this Committee, several modules focussed on 
behaviour and ethics. These will hopefully help to set a culture of good behaviour 
for the new Council.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1 That the Committee is invited to comment on the ethical component of the 
Member Induction programme held after the elections, included in 
Appendices 1 and 2.

REPORT DETAILS

1.00 EXPLAINING THE 2022 MEMBER INDUCTION PROGRAMME 

1.01 The design of the 2022 Member Induction programme had benefitted from 
feedback after the 2012 and 2017 elections, as well as consideration at the 
Ethical Liaison Meeting last summer. The topics were revised to provide a 
better grounding in how the Council operates and acceptable behaviours, 
in order to prepare Members for the new Council term.

Tudalen 11

Eitem ar gyfer y Rhaglen 4



1.02 Most sessions were delivered in three slots: morning, afternoon and 
evening, to give both new and returning Members the opportunity to attend 
at a convenient time. One of the sessions was delivered remotely, via 
Zoom in order to be able to record it for future reference.

1.03 Formal sessions were delivered by Council officers on skills and knowledge 
such as :

 Introduction to the Council (History; governance structure; introduction 
to portfolios);

 Planning Committee Members’ training (Role of the Members of the 
Planning Committee in determining planning applications);

 How we work (Chief and statutory officers gave details of their 
portfolios, who their key officers are, their roles in delivering on Council 
plan themes);

 Strategic Finance (Size of budget, how it is made up, sources of 
income, members role in setting budget etc.);

 Planning for non-Committee members (explain the Planning system for 
non-Committee members; their role in consultation and representation)

 Governance & Audit Committee (Support and promote efficient and 
economic use of resources; effective control of expenditure and review 
audit performance, and signing off Annual Accounts);

 Licensing Committee (how the Committee and sub-Committees work to 
deal with individual applications, delivered by an external provider).

In addition, and more pertinently for the work of this Committee, sessions 
were provided that focussed on how the Council works, acceptable 
behaviours and ethics:
 Meeting structure and Chairing Skills (How the five Overview & 

Scrutiny Committees operate and inter-relate. Introduction to effective 
chairing and recognition of the chair’s role);

 Constitution, Code of Conduct, the Flintshire Standard and Group 
Leader roles (Explaining ‘the rules’ so that new and returning Members 
are aware of them from May 2022);

 How Members work (Participating in meetings, managing ward work, 
maintaining a healthy work/life balance, self-care arrangements, 
protocol on operating outside the ward. Cabinet and Committee roles. 
Social media profile.); and

 Detailed training on interests, dispensations, and gifts & hospitality has 
been provided (or booked in) for the political groups.

1.04 In addition, three mandatory, remote sessions have been provided for 
Town and Community Councillors which covered the whole of the Code of 
Conduct.  Further sessions are planned for the autumn once Town and 
Community Councils have had a chance to co-opt over the summer to fill 
vacancies that remained after the elections.

1.05 The table below shows the aggregate attendance at the different modules 
at County Council level.  In addition 189 Town and Community Councillors 
out of a total 440 received training.
 

Tudalen 12



Meetings & 
Chairing

Constitution 
& Code

How 
members 

work

Interests, 
gifts etc
(partially 

complete)
Attendees 23 58 27 36

1.06 The ethical component of the induction that will be delivered “live” is 
(noting the comments above about courses yet to be delivered) largely 
complete. The intention is to introduce a dedicated resource section for 
Councillors on the ‘Infonet’ that will include the filmed induction sessions 
as well as other relevant documents / links for those who have not yet 
been able to attend.

2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01 Providing development sessions at similar times has been done to be as 
‘time effective’ as possible, both for Members and officers. Delivering 
some sessions remotely aided this. Where possible, development is being 
provided by the Council’s own officers, supplemented by external 
specialists as required.

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT

3.01 This report has been prepared to consult the Standards Committee on the 
approach being taken to continuing Member development. A report will 
also be taken to the Constitution & Democratic Services Committee on 
Thursday 7 July 2022.

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.01 The Member Induction Programme was designed to mitigate risk by 
providing councillors with the knowledge and skills to carry out their roles 
effectively. It is intended that the Member Development Programme will 
maintain and build on those skills.

5.00 APPENDICES

5.01 Appendix 1 - Schedule of Induction Sessions Part a
Appendix 2 - Schedule of Induction Sessions Part b
Appendix 3 - Flintshire County Council 2022/23 Member Development

Tudalen 13



6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.01 Contact Officer: Steven Goodrum, Democratic Services Manager
Telephone: 01352 702320
E-mail: steven.goodrum@flintshire.gov.uk

7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

7.01 WLGA - Welsh Local Government Association.

Tudalen 14

mailto:steven.goodrum@flintshire.gov.uk


1

Schedule of Induction sessions
An induction programme has been devised for all newly elected or returning Members. The sessions are intended to provide an overview of 
how Flintshire County Council works, and to introduce Members to key Officers.

The programme will take place over several weeks. The first two weeks’ sessions are listed in the table below.

Each session will be delivered three times with a morning, afternoon, and evening slot. 

Some sessions will be delivered ‘in-person’ and others remotely by Zoom.

Weeks 1 (Mon-9-May to Fri-13-May) and 2 (Mon-16-May to Fri-20-May)

Topic Indicative 
Presenters to 
include

Outline/Purpose Target Status and 
justification

Dates/times

A. Introduction to the 
Council

 Chief 
Executive

 Chief Officer – 
Governance

 Head of 
Democratic 
Services

 Group leaders 
(if known) 

 Setting the scene for the 
induction programme.  

 Explaining which 
sessions are mandatory 
and which are 
discretionary. History; 
governance structure; 
introduction to portfolios.

All Members Discretionary, but 
highly recommended, 
especially for new 
Members

1. Wednesday 11th May 
@ 10am

2. Wednesday 11th May 
@ 6pm

3. Friday 13th May @ 2pm

B. Meeting structure and 
Chairing Skills 

 Chief Officer – 
Governance

 Head of 
Democratic 
Services

 Overview & 
Scrutiny 
Facilitators

 The Constitution 
provides framework 
wherein Council, 
Cabinet, Overview & 
Scrutiny, and the 
regulatory meetings all 
work. 

 How the five Overview & 
Scrutiny Committees 
operate and inter-relate. 

All Members Discretionary, but 
highly recommended, 
especially for new 
Members

1. Wednesday 11th May 
@ 2pm

2. Thursday 12th May @ 
6pm

3. Thursday 19th May @ 
10am

T
udalen 15



2

Topic Indicative 
Presenters to 
include

Outline/Purpose Target Status and 
justification

Dates/times

 Introduction to effective 
chairing and recognition 
of the chair’s role.

D. Constitution, Code of 
Conduct, the Flintshire 
Standard and Group 
leader roles.

 Chief Officer – 
Governance

 Head of 
Democratic 
Services

 Deputy 
Monitoring 
Officer and 

 Group 
Leaders

 Explaining ‘the rules’ so 
that new and returning 
Members are aware of 
them from May 2022.

All Members Mandatory 1. Friday 13th May @ 
11am

2. Wednesday 18th May 
@ 2pm

3. Wednesday 18th May 
@ 6pm

F. How Members work  Chief 
Executive

 Chief Officer – 
Governance

 Head of 
Democratic 
Services

 Some senior 
Members 
(serving or 
recently 
retired).

 Participating in meetings, 
managing ward work, 
maintaining a healthy 
work/life balance, self-
care arrangements, 
protocol on operating 
outside the ward.

 Cabinet and committee 
roles.

 Social media profile.

All Members Discretionary, but 
highly recommended, 
especially for new 
Members

1. Monday 16th May @ 
10am

2. Monday 16th May @ 
2pm

3. Tuesday 17th May @ 
6pm

T
udalen 16



3

Topic Indicative 
Presenters to 
include

Outline/Purpose Target Status and 
justification

Dates/times

H. How we work  All Chief 
Officers and 
statutory 
officers

 Chief and statutory 
officers to give details of 
their portfolios, who their 
key officers are, their 
roles in delivering on 
council plan themes.

All Members Discretionary, but 
highly recommended, 
especially for new 
Members

1. Monday 16th May @ 
6pm

2. Tuesday 17th May @ 
10am

3. Tuesday 17th May @ 
2pm

J. Planning Committee 
Members’ training

 Chief Officer – 
Planning, 
Environment 
& Economy

 Planning 
officers

 Planning 
committee 
solicitor

 Role of the Members of 
the Planning Committee 
in determining planning 
applications.

All Members 
interested in being 
part of Planning 
Committee

Only those who have 
been trained are 
eligible to be 
members of this 
committee.

1. Friday 20th May @ 3pm

2. TBC w/c Monday 23rd 
May

3. TBC w/c Monday 23rd 
May

Please indicate your selection of preferred date and time for each topic on the attached sheet and return to the Democratic Services Manager, 
Steven Goodrum, County Hall, Mold.

Alternatively, email your selections to steven.goodrum@flintshire.gov.uk

Tel. No. 01352 702320

T
udalen 17

mailto:steven.goodrum@flintshire.gov.uk


4

Week 3 and beyond

The following sessions will be delivered from week commencing Monday 23rd May. 

Further details about times etc. will be issued on Friday 13th May.

Topic Indicative 
Presenters to 
include

Outline/Purpose Target Status and justification

C. Chairing effective Meetings  External 
facilitator

Keeping meetings focused, inclusive 
and purposeful

All Chairs and vice-
chairs

Highly recommended for all 
holders of civic and senior 
salaries 

E. Council priorities and 
Members working together

 Leader of the 
Council

 Deputy leader(s)

Council leadership to present on the 
new council’s priorities and how they 
propose to work effectively with all 
Members.

All Members Discretionary, but highly 
recommended

G. Strategic Finance  Chief Executive
 Corporate 

Finance 
Manager

 Deputy s151

Size of budget, how made up , 
sources of income, members role in 
setting budget etc, WG/WLGA 
stance on funding formula

All Members Discretionary, but highly 
recommended, especially 
for new Members

I. Planning for non-committee 
members

 Chief Officer – 
Planning, 
Environment & 
Economy

 Planning officers 

Intended to explain the Planning 
system for non-committee members; 
their role in consultation and 
representation

Members who are not 
going to serve on the 
Planning Committee

K. Governance & Audit 
Committee

 Chief Officer – 
Governance

 Internal Audit 
manager

Role of the Committee: to support 
and promote efficient and economic 
use of resources;   effective control 
of expenditure and review audit 
performance. 
Signing off Annual Accounts

Mandatory training for 
all G&A committee 
members, whether 
councillors or lay 
Members

Only those  who have been 
trained are eligible to be 
members of this committee

T
udalen 18



5

Topic Indicative 
Presenters to 
include

Outline/Purpose Target Status and justification

L. Licensing Committee  External 
facilitator

Mandatory training for Members of 
the Licensing committee and how 
the sub-committees work to deal 
with individual applications.

Members who are 
going to serve on the 
Licensing Committee.

Only those who have been 
trained are eligible to be 
members of this committee

M. Information management, 
security & Data protection

TBC Importance of data security, role of 
Members as data controllers, 
dangers of re-using previous emails 
and their trails.

All Members

N. Equalities, to include Welsh 
language policy

TBC How we fulfil requirements within 
Flintshire 

All Members

O. Market Place Event Various To meet key Officers from the range 
of services that Flintshire County 
Council delivers.

All Members

T
udalen 19



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn bw
rpasol



1

Schedule of Induction sessions continued
Please find below details of further induction sessions available to Members.Some sessions will be delivered ‘in-person’ and others remotely by Zoom, as 
indicated.

Topic Indicative 
Presenters to 
include

Outline/Purpose Target Status and justification Dates/times & Venue

G. Strategic Finance  Chief Executive
 Corporate 

Finance 
Manager

 Deputy s151

Size of budget, how 
made up ,sources of 
income, members role in 
setting budget etc, 
WG/WLGA stance on 
funding formula

All Members Discretionary, but highly 
recommended, especially 
for new Members

1. Monday 23rd May @ 6pm

Location: Zoom

2. Wednesday 25th May @ 2pm

Location: County Hall; Council Chamber

3. Thursday 26th May @ 10am

Location: County Hall; Council Chamber

I. Planning for non-
committee members

 Chief Officer – 
Planning, 
Environment & 
Economy

 Planning officers 

Intended to explain the 
Planning system for non-
committee members, 
their role in consultation 
and representation

Members who are 
not going to serve 
on the Planning 
Committee

1. Tuesday 24th May @ 6pm

Location: County Hall; A&D Room

2. Wednesday 25th May @ 1.30pm

Location: County Hall; A&D Room

3. Friday 27th May @ 2pm

Location: Zoom

J. Planning Committee 
Members’ training

 Chief Officer – 
Planning, 
Environment & 
Economy

 Planning officers
 Planning 

committee 
solicitor

Role of the Members of 
the Planning Committee 
in determining planning 
applications.

All Members 
interested in being 
part of Planning 
Committee

Only those who have 
been trained are eligible 
to be members of this 
committee.

1. Wednesday 25th May @ 6pm

Location: Zoom

2. Tuesday 31st May @ 3:30pm

Location: County Hall; A&D Room

3. Tuesday 7th June @ 3pm

Location: County Hall; A&D Room

T
udalen 21



2

Topic Indicative 
Presenters to 
include

Outline/Purpose Target Status and justification Dates/times & Venue

K. Governance & Audit 
Committee

 Chief Officer – 
Governance

 Internal Audit 
manager

Role of the Committee: to 
support and promote 
efficient and economic 
use of resources; 
effective control of 
expenditure and review 
audit performance. 

Signing off Annual 
Accounts

Mandatory training 
for all G&A 
committee 
members, whether 
councillors or lay 
Members

Only those who have 
been trained are eligible 
to be members of this 
committee.

1. Wednesday 25th May @ 10am

Location: County Hall; Council Chamber

L. Licensing Committee  External 
facilitator

Mandatory training for 
Members of the Licensing 
committee and how the 
sub-committees work to 
deal with individual 
applications.

Mandatory for 
Members who are 
going to serve on 
the Licensing 
Committee.

Only those who have 
been trained are eligible 
to be members of this 
committee

1. Monday 20th June. 

Time and Location to be confirmed

O. Market Place Event Various To meet key Officers 
from the range of 
services that Flintshire 
County Council delivers.

All Members 1. Thursday 26th May from 6pm
Location: County Hall; A&D Room

T
udalen 22



3

Please indicate your selection of preferred date and time for each topic below and return to 
the Democratic Services Manager, Steven Goodrum, County Hall, Mold. Alternatively, email 
your selections to steven.goodrum@flintshire.gov.uk or telephone 01352 702320.

Name: _____________________________________________________________

Date Time Topic Delivery Selection
Mon-23-May 6pm G Strategic Finance Zoom

Tue-24-May 6pm I Planning for non-
committee members

County Hall: 
A&D Room

Wed-25-May 10am K Governance & Audit 
Committee

County Hall: 
Council Chamber

Wed-25-May 1:30pm I Planning for non-
committee members

County Hall: 
A&D Room

Wed-25-May 2pm G Strategic Finance County Hall: 
Council Chamber

Wed-25-May 6pm J Planning Committee 
Members’ Training

Zoom

Thu-26-May 10am G Strategic Finance County Hall: 
Council Chamber

Thu-26-May 6pm Market Place County Hall: 
A&D Room

Fri-27-May 2pm I Planning for non-
committee members

Zoom

Tue-31-May 3:30pm J Planning Committee 
Members’ Training

County Hall: 
A&D Room

Tue-7-Jun 3pm J Planning Committee 
Members’ Training

County Hall: 
A&D Room

Mon-20-Jun TBC L Licensing Committee TBC

Tudalen 23

mailto:steven.goodrum@flintshire.gov.uk


Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn bwrpasol



2017-18 Member Development Briefings following Induction

Flintshire County Council 2022/23 Member Development

This programme of Member Development builds on the Induction which took place in May. The emphasis now is providing specific skills 
and knowledge for the various roles which Members have, rather than the generic sessions offered during Induction.

Topic Identified by Focus Dates Other comments
1 Local 

Development 
Plan (LDP)

Members and 
Officers

Current position on the LDP. 8 June, 13 June and 
14 June 2022

2 Use of 
planning 
conditions 
and Legal 
agreements

Members and 
Officers

An understanding of the use of 
planning conditions and legal 
agreements such as those made 
under section 106 is integral to the 
ability of Planning committee 
members to discharge the 
responsibilities of their role 
effectively.

Autumn

3 Role of 
planning 
enforcement

Members and 
Officers

Role of planning enforcement 
following a review of the service 
and how it will be provided

Autumn

4 Gypsy & 
Traveller 
Sites

Members Members have requested a specific 
session about the planning 
guidance around gypsy and 
traveller sites/

28 June 2022

5. Treasury 
management

S 151 officer Treasury management training is 
always offered to members of the 
Audit Committee and wider 
membership

Autumn

6. Introduction 
to Equalities 

Members and 
Officers 

Ensuring that all members have a 
good awareness of their role and 

Autumn To be delivered by FCC 
officers

T
udalen 25



2017-18 Member Development Briefings following Induction

Topic Identified by Focus Dates Other comments
and Welsh 
Language

responsibilities in promoting 
equalities and the Welsh language

7. Corporate 
Parenting

Members and 
Officers 

Ensuring that all members have a 
good awareness of their role and 
responsibilities as corporate 
parents

Autumn To be delivered by FCC 
officers

8. Health & 
Safety

Members and 
Officers 

The ‘safety first for Councillors’ 
session in Phase 1 Induction 
touched on this: we need to ensure 
that all members have a good 
awareness of their role and 
responsibilities.

Autumn To be delivered by FCC 
officers

9. Corporate 
Safeguarding

Members and 
Officers 

Ensuring that all members have a 
good awareness of their role and 
responsibilities

6 June 2022 and 14 June 2022

10. Local 
Government 
Funding 
Formula

Members and 
Officers during 
the Induction 
sessions

To provide additional details to 
Members about how the Local 
Government Funding Formula 
works.

Provisionally booked for Friday 
22 July 2022.

WLGA will be delivering 
the session.

11. 
12 Wellbeing of 

Future 
Generations 
(Wales) Act 
2015

Members and 
Officers 

Introduction to the WFB Act and its 
implications for FCC and the 
communities which we serve.

Autumn

13
14

T
udalen 26



STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

Date of Meeting Monday, 4 July 2022

Report Subject All Wales Standards Conference 2022 Report Back

Report Author Chief Officer (Governance) 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The All Wales Standards Conference was held virtually on 9 February 2022.  It 
was organised by the Monitoring Officers in North Wales. Given the significance of 
the Penn Review of the Ethical Regime, the Conference focussed exclusively on 
that topic.

Richard Penn was the main speaker, and there were speakers from Welsh 
Government, the Public Services Ombudsman’s Office and One Voice Wales. 
Delegates came from all authorities in Wales including the Fire Authorities and 
National Parks.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1 That the report on the conference is welcomed and that the Committee 
agrees to incorporate work arising from the Penn Review of the Ethical 
Regime into its work programme as it arises

REPORT DETAILS

1.00 REPORT BACK FROM THE ALL WALES STANDARDS CONFERENCE

1.01 Every two years Monitoring Officers from the North, Mid and South regions 
take it in turns to arrange and host a conference for all the Standards 
Committees. The most recent conference (delayed due to Covid) was 
arranged by the Monitoring Officers in North Wales and took place in 
February via Zoom.  It was attended by Standards Committee members 
and Monitoring Officers (or their deputies) from all the principal Councils, 

Tudalen 27

Eitem ar gyfer y Rhaglen 5



the National Park Authorities and the Fire & Rescue Authorities.  In 
addition the President of the Adjudication Panel For Wales (APW), the 
current and previous Public Services Ombudsman for Wales were also 
present.

1.02 Due to the significance of the Penn Review of the Ethical Regime the 
conference focussed solely on this topic.  Richard Penn was the key note 
speaker and explained his report and the rationale for his findings, taking 
questions afterwards.  Welsh Government explained that it would consult 
widely on whether to legislate for any of the recommendations in the 
report.  In the afternoon a panel consisting of the PSOW, OVW and a 
Standards Committee chair gave their perspectives on the report and 
proposals for action.

1.03 It is fair to say that not all the recommendations within the report were 
accepted although there is a measure of consensus around such 
recommendations as

1) The need for a National Standards Forum
2) Minor updates to the code and changes to the APW’s powers of 

sanction
3) The need for training on the Code of Conduct to be mandatory.

1.04 The Chair and Vice Chair of this Committee attended and can give verbal 
feedback on their thoughts about the conference.

2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01 None directly arising from this report

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT

3.01 Not required

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.01 None directly arising from this report

5.00 APPENDICES

5.01 Appendix 1 – All Wales Standards Conference Programme
Appendix 2 – Report on the Penn Review of the Ethical Regime
Appendix 3 – Dr Einir Young Presentation
Appendix 4 – One Voice Wales Presentation
Appendix 5 – Public Services Ombudsman for Wales Presentation
Appendix 6 – Welsh Government Presentation

Tudalen 28



6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.01 Contact Officer: Gareth Owens, Chief Officer (Governance)
Telephone: 01352 702344
E-mail: gareth.legal@flintshire.gov.uk

7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

7.01 Adjudication Panel for Wales - the panel of lay people and lawyers from 
whom a case tribunal will be drawn to determine whether the Code of 
Conduct has been breached.

Public Services Ombudsman for Wales - (as per standard glossary)

Penn Review of the Ethical Regime - a review commissioned by Welsh 
Government and conducted by Richard Penn looking into the Code of 
Conduct, how it is enforced, how training is undertaken and all other 
mechanisms to ensure high standards of ethical behaviour.

Tudalen 29

mailto:gareth.legal@flintshire.gov.uk


Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn bwrpasol



All Wales Standards Conference  

9 February 2022  

10am – 4pm 

 Programme 

 

Welcome and Introductions  10.00 – 10.15 
 

Richard Penn Richard to present his report on the 
Independent Review of the Ethical 
Standards Framework in Wales. Suggest 
that Richard speaks on his report for 45 
mins to an hour and we will then take 
questions for 30 -45 minutes. 

10.15 – 11.45 
 

Break 
 

 11.45 – 12.00 

Welsh Government Welsh Government to present their 
response and potential areas for 
legislation for 30 minutes followed by 
questions for 30 minutes. 

12.00 – 13.00 
 

Lunch  13.00 – 14.00 
 

Panel discussion Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, 
One Voice Wales and Gwynedd County 
Council Standards Committee’s Chair to 
speak for up to 15 minutes each with 
their perspective followed by questions 
and debate from the floor. 

14.00 – 15.50 
 

Closing remarks  15.50 – 16.00 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Tudalen 31



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn bwrpasol



1 

111

11 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Independent Review of the Ethical 

Standards Framework in Wales 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Richard Penn  

Independent Consultant  

 

July 2021 

Tudalen 33



2 

222

22 

 

 

 

Table of contents 

1. Executive summary          3   

2. Background and methodology       10 

3. The current ethical standards framework for local government in Wales 15 

4. My findings          28 

5. Conclusions and recommendations       42 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 34



3 

333

33 

 

 

 

1 Executive summary 
 

1.1 In March 2021 the then Minister for Housing and Local Government announced her 

intention to commission an independent review of the ethical standards framework for 

local government in Wales that was established by the Local Government Act 2000 and 

which has remained largely unchanged to ensure that it remains fit for purpose, is open 

and transparent, and that it commands the confidence of all involved with the framework. 

I was commissioned to undertake this review with the aim to report to Welsh 

Government Ministers by the end of June 2021. The intention is for any agreed changes 

to be made ahead of the local government elections in May 2022. 

 

1.2 The review was to include: 

 
 an audit of the Codes of Conduct adopted by authorities; 

 

 an analysis of the effectiveness of the framework in fostering high standards of 

conduct in local government and public confidence in those arrangements; 

 
 whether the framework is still fit for purpose; 

 
 the role of Standards Committees; 

 
  an analysis of the arrangements and protocols in place to support members and 

staff; 

 
 consideration of the current sanctions and whether they are still appropriate.  

 

1.3 It was seen to be essential to ensure the local government family in Wales was fully 

involved in the review and informed the outcome and met with many of those individuals 

and representatives of organization most involved in delivering the ethical standards 

framework in Wales, and this report, its findings and its recommendations are largely 

based on the views and experience of those individuals and organisations. 

 

1.4 The key question for all those I met with was - how can ethical standards in local 

government in Wales be enhanced, and on a practical point how can the number of 

complaints be reduced? 

  

1.5 The overwhelming consensus is that the current framework is ‘fit for purpose’, works well 

in practice and viewed by many as far superior to that currently used in English local 

government. However, it is also clear that with some minor adjustments and 

amendments to the current framework this could result in a lower number of low level 

complaints made and the need for formal investigations being significantly reduced. The 

outcome of this first phase of the review builds on the positive elements of the framework 

while strengthening those areas where it is considered improvements could be made. 

The already high ethical standards in Welsh local government would be further 

enhanced as a result.  

 

Tudalen 35



4 

444

44 

 

 

 

 
1.6 My key findings and recommendations for change are detailed in Section 5 of this report 

and are summarised below: 

 

 An audit of the Codes of Conduct adopted by all the required authorities 

against the Model Code to identify any local variances 

 

With only one exception (a County Council) the Model Code of Conduct has been 

adopted without significant variations or additions. However, over one half have 

adopted a local resolution procedure or protocol supplementary to the Model 

Code, and over one half also have a mandatory training requirement, again not as 

part of the Code itself but supplementary to it. In the other authorities this is an 

expectation rather than being mandatory. 

 

 An analysis of the effectiveness of the framework in fostering high 

standards of conduct in local government in Wales and public confidence in 

those arrangements 

 

The framework generally, and the requirements of the Code of Conduct in 

 particular, has been instrumental in fostering the high standards of conduct that 

are evident in local government in Wales. However, there are concerns about the 

continuing and recently increasing volume of complaints about the conduct of 

members of Community Councils. Adjustments and amendments to the current 

framework requiring mandatory training on the Code for all members and the 

greater use of local resolution procedures should result in the number of the 

mostly low level complaints that are made and the need for formal investigations 

that are required into allegations that there has been a breach of the Code being 

significantly reduced, and this would result in the already high ethical standards in 

Welsh local government being  further enhanced. 

 

 Consideration of whether the framework is still fit for purpose, including 

whether the ten principles of conduct are still relevant and whether the 

Model Code of Conduct needs updating. This will include identification of 

areas where improvements could/should be made to the current 

arrangements  

 

The consensus is that the current framework is fit for purpose and works well in 

practice. The ten principles of conduct are seen as relevant and the Model Code 

of Conduct is seen as generally appropriate and not in need of major revision. 

However, I have proposed a number of amendments to the Code:  

 

o The Code does not specify any threshold for declarations of any gift, 

hospitality, material benefit or advantage. The threshold should be specified 

in the Code to ensure consistency across Wales. 

 

 

Tudalen 36



5 

555

55 

 

 

 

o Members are required to include their home address in their Council’s 

Register of Interests. There is agreement that the Code should not require 

Councillors to disclose their home address and that the Code should be 

amended appropriately. 

 
o A ‘person’ is not defined either in the 2000 Local Government Act or in the 

Code. It is recommended that a clear definition of what is meant by a 

‘person’ on the face of the legislation or in the Code would be beneficial. 

 
o Paragraph 4a of the Code which requires that a member must: 

 

‘carry out your duties and responsibilities with due regard to the principle 

that there should be equality of opportunity for all people, regardless of 

their gender, race, disability, sexual orientation, age or religion’ 

 

does not include all protected characteristics. The provision in the Code 

should be extended to include all nine protected characteristics under the 

Equality Act 2010. 

 

o The potential for breaches of the Code as a result of the extensive and 

increasing use of social media is a matter of concern. The helpful guidance 

by the WLGA and the Public Services Ombudsman should be formalised by 

appropriate amendments to the Code. 

 

o  6(1)(b) of the Code of Conduct places the obligation on elected members to 

report the criminal behaviour of others but not of themselves. The Code 

should be appropriately amended to make this an obligation of the member 

to themselves report on their own criminal conduct. 

 

In addition to these proposed amendments to the Model Code of Conduct there are a 

number of other recommendations in respect of the current ethical standards framework 

in Wales: 

 

 Mandatory training on the Code of Conduct for all members of principal 

councils and community councils 

 

The simplest way to achieve universal mandatory training would be to include a 

commitment to undertake the necessary training in the Declaration of Acceptance 

of Office that all elected members are required to sign under The Local Elections 

(Declaration of Acceptance of Office) (Wales) Order 2004 before they can act as a 

Councillor, in the same way that they are currently required to undertake to 

observe the Code of Conduct adopted by their authority. It may require legislation 

to amend the 2004 Order appropriately. 

 

 

 

Tudalen 37



6 

666

66 

 

 

 

 Increased use of local resolution of complaints 

 
The Model Code of Conduct should be appropriately amended to require that any 

complaint should be considered for local resolution before it can be referred 

subsequently to the Public Services Ombudsman. The consensus is that 

combined with mandatory training on the Code of Conduct for all Councillors this 

would speed up the complaints process and ensure that the Ombudsman’s 

resources are devoted to the investigation of serious complaints. 

 

 Extended powers for the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 

 
Greater use of the Ombudsman’s discretion for referral would be welcomed by 

Monitoring Officers and Chairs of Standards Committees. The extension of his 

power to refer complaints back for local resolution would be a beneficial change 

to the current framework. 

 

 Changes to the powers and processes of the Adjudication Panel for Wales  

 

o Restricted reporting orders 

 

The Panel cannot control the reporting by the press about any case. The 

Panel President considers that the powers available to an Employment 

Tribunal - to impose a Restricted Reporting Order either until the end of 

proceedings or an extended Restricted Reporting Order - would be 

appropriate for all Panel Tribunals, and could be introduced either through 

legislation for all Welsh tribunals following the recent Law Commission 

Report or specifically for the Adjudication Panel for Wales.  

 

o Anonymity of witnesses 

 

The President can issue guidance to ensure consistency and transparency, 

but an express power to anonymise would be useful for both Case and 

Appeal Tribunals to ensure that there is legal underpinning. It is in the 

President’s remit to add this power for Appeal Tribunals, but fresh 

legislation would be required for Case Tribunals. 

 

o Disclosure   

 

There is an issue about the disclosure of the unused material held by the 

Public Services Ombudsman and Monitoring Officers. It has been agreed 

to amend the Ombudsman’s own process in this regard, with Presidential 

guidance/practice direction on both disclosure and the role of the 

Monitoring Officer generally. 

 

o Appeal Tribunal procedure  

 

The Panel President intends to ask for amendments to the Appeal Tribunal 

Tudalen 38



7 

777

77 

 

 

 

procedure. The current Regulations require the Standards Committee to 

consider the Panel decision on the Appeal if it is different to the original 

decision. This is unpopular with Standards Committees as they feel bound 

by the Panel decision. The President is content with this as the Standards 

Committee remains responsible and can reflect its response to the Panel 

decision in the sanction it decides to impose.  

 

o Case Tribunal procedure 

 

The Panel President considers that the Regulations are outdated and has 

proposed a number of amendments to make the Case Tribunal Procedure 

more efficient and fairer to witnesses.  

 

o Permission to appeal procedure 

 

Permission to appeal has to be sought from the President of the Panel. The 

President proposes minor amendments to make the process more 

balanced and sensible. 

 

o Sentencing powers  

 

The powers available to the Panel are limited and the President would like 

the ability to impose more varied sanctions as was the case with the former 

Adjudication Panel for England. 

  

o Interim Case Tribunals  

 

The Public Services Ombudsman has the power to make interim referrals 

to the Panel if it is in the public interest and where there is prima facie 

evidence that the person has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct, 

the nature of which is likely to lead to disqualification. The threshold for 

meeting the legislative requirements for an interim referral is considered to 

be too high, but any change to these powers would require primary 

legislation by the Welsh Government. The proposal is that the whole 

process should be simplified by applying a test similar to that used by the 

Regulatory Tribunals such as the Medical Practitioners’ Tribunal. This 

would be a relatively minor amendment to the current public interest test, 

but would make the approach to be adopted and the definition of public 

interest much clearer. It would require new legislation by the Welsh 

Government.  

 

 Consideration of the role of Standards Committees, including their role in 

relation to Town and Community Councils and whether the establishment of 

sub-committees has had any impact on the process of supporting 

Community Councils and dealing with complaints. 

 

Tudalen 39



8 

888

88 

 

 

 

o There is a need for consistency of approach and for the remit of the 

Standards Committee to be generally similar across Wales but that there is a 

need for the local Standards Committee to reflect the specifics of the 

situation for the principal council concerned. The Chair of the Standards 

Committee should play a leadership role, along with the Chief Executive, the 

Monitoring Officer and the Leaders of political groups in promoting high 

standards of conduct across the Council. 

 

o The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 includes a number of 

provisions that have implications for the work of Standards Committees 

which will be expected to support the political leadership of the Council in 

maintaining high standards of conduct by the members of their group and to 

make an annual report to the authority on the discharge of its functions, its 

assessment of standards of conduct within the authority and any 

recommendations for improving standards. 

 
o There is a need for training of members of Standards Committee, not only on 

the Model Code of Conduct but also on how to hold Hearings to ensure 

openness and fairness to the member complained of, to the complainant and 

to any witnesses. 

 
o There should be an all-Wales Forum for Independent Chairs of Standards 

Committees and the re-establishment of the annual Conference for 

Independent Chairs and Independent members of Standards Committees 

that would encourage consistency of approach and the adoption of best 

practice across Wales. 

 
o  The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales accepts the need for more 

reference back to Standards Committees when he declines to investigate 

complaints. Standards Committees would need to have additional powers to 

require necessary training of members and the power to require a member 

to make an apology to the complainant. 

 
o There is serious concern about the extent of bullying, lack of respect or 

otherwise generally disruptive behaviour by some members at meetings of 

Town and Community Councils. This is an issue that may be mitigated by a 

requirement for mandatory training of councillors and greater use of local 

resolution procedures, and guidance prepared by One Voice Wales and the 

Society of Local Council Clerks has been helpful in assisting Councils to 

avoid or tackle such behaviour, but it continues to be a serious problem.  

 

 An analysis of the arrangements and protocols in place within authorities to 

support members and staff in preventing the need for issues to a) arise in 

the first place and b) be escalated beyond local resolution. This will include 

areas such as clear communication and signposting, training and 

awareness and the approach to addressing concerns. 

 

Tudalen 40



9 

999

99 

 

 

 

The review has been very useful in indicating where there is the need for changes 

to the current arrangements to support members and staff – principally Standards 

Committees and Monitoring Officers – in preventing issues arising and needing 

being dealt with more effectively in a timely way without the need for investigation 

by the Public Services Ombudsman. The recommendations for changes to the 

current ethical standards framework are intended to assist in achieving that 

objective.  

 

 Consideration of the current sanctions and whether they are still 

appropriate  

 

There was no view expressed during my review that these sanctions available to a 

Standards Committee are not proportionate or appropriate. However, there is 

support for the Adjudication Panel for Wales having the ability to impose more 

varied sanctions than is currently the case. The proposal is that the sanctions 

should be similar to those available to the former Adjudication Panel for England.  

 

 Accessibility of the ethical standards framework 

 

The ability of a member of the public to make a legitimate complaint about the 

conduct of an elected member in their area is constrained by the lack of publicity 

about the ethical standards framework and how the complaints procedure can be 

utilised. There is very helpful information and advice on the websites of the Public 

Services Ombudsman, the WLGA and One Voice Wales. However, a member of 

the public would have great difficulty in finding helpful information if they wished to 

complain, particularly if they do not have internet access, or have difficulty in 

accessing information because of various disabilities, or because they belong to a 

‘hard to reach group’, or because of language problems. If the ethical standards 

framework is to be genuinely open, transparent and accessible to everyone, and if 

the objective is that the framework should command the confidence of everyone 

who may need to use it, then consideration needs to be given to how to ensure 

equality of access for everyone.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 41



10 

101

010

101

0 

 

 

 

2 Background and methodology 

 

2.1 At a meeting of the Partnership Council for Wales on 1 March 2021 the then Minister for 

Housing and Local Government discussed a range of issues connected to the 

implementation of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021. One of the 

issues discussed was her intention to commission an independent review of the ethical 

standards framework. Council Leaders agreed this was timely in light of the changes to 

the framework set out in the Act and the time which has elapsed since the framework 

was first established. 

 

2.2 The ethical standards framework in Wales was established by the Local Government Act 

2000 and has remained largely unchanged, though there have been a number of small 

modifications to improve the operation of the framework over the last twenty years. The 

subordinate legislation underpinning the framework was last reviewed and amended in 

2016. The Model Code of Conduct, first introduced in 2001, was significantly recast in 

2008 and further amended in 2016.  

 

2.3 The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 which received Royal Assent on 

20 January 2021 has, at its core, the principles of democracy, diversity, transparency 

and accountability to the citizens of Wales. There are a number of provisions which are 

fundamental to greater transparency and openness between local Councils and 

communities, and the Act includes measures to combat bullying and harassment 

amongst elected members and Council staff.  

 

2.4 Since the framework was established the Welsh Government has continuously set out its 

commitment to equality and diversity, including through the making of the Well-being of 

Future Generations Act 2015. Most recently the Government has published the Gender 

Equality Review and is currently consulting on its new Race Equality Action Plan.  

 

2.5 It is with this new legislation and policies in mind that Welsh Government concluded that 

the ethical standards framework needed to be reviewed to ensure that it remains fit for 

purpose, is open and transparent, and that it commands the confidence of all involved 

with the framework.  

 

2.6 In taking this work forward it was seen to be essential to ensure that the local 

government family in Wales is fully involved in the review and informs the outcome. This 

should include, but not exclusively, local government members (Principal and 

Community Councils), monitoring officers, standards committees, heads of democratic 

services, the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA), Lawyers in Local 

Government, One Voice Wales, Society of Local Council Clerks, the Public Services 

Ombudsman for Wales and citizens/representative organisations. This involvement 

needed to be demonstrated as part of the outcome of this work. 

 
 

 

Tudalen 42



11 

111

111

111

1 

 

 

2.7 The following were the key components of delivery:  

 

 an audit of the Codes of Conduct adopted by all the required authorities against 

the Model Code to identify any local variances.  

 an analysis of the effectiveness of the framework in fostering high standards of 

conduct in local government in Wales and public confidence in those 

arrangements.  

 consideration of whether the framework is still fit for purpose, including whether 

the ten principles of conduct are still relevant and whether the Model Code of 

Conduct needs updating. This will include identification of areas where 

improvements could / should be made to the current arrangements.  

 

 consideration of the role of standards committees, including their role in relation to 

Community Councils and whether the establishment of sub-committees has any 

impact on the process of supporting Community Councils and dealing with 

complaints.  

 

 an analysis of the arrangements and protocols in place within authorities to 

support members and staff in preventing the need for issues to a) arise in the first 

place and b) be escalated beyond local resolution. This will include areas such as 

clear communication and signposting, training and awareness and authorities’ 

approach to addressing concerns. 

 

 consideration of the current sanctions and whether they are still appropriate.  

 

2.8 The review will take place in two phases: 

 

 The first phase involved engagement with partners to establish views about the 

process and operation of the framework including details of where the framework 

works well and whether there are areas which could be improved. The outcome of 

this first phase was to be a roadmap for building on the positive elements of the 

framework while strengthening those areas where it is considered improvements 

could be made. Options to bring the requirements of the Register of Interests 

provisions in the Model Code of Conduct Order in line with the policy of the Act to 

stop Councillors’ addresses being published will also be explored as part of this 

work. 

 

 Phase two of the work will focus on working with partners and stakeholders to 

deliver the necessary changes. 

 

2.9 I am a former Chief Executive of two major local authorities in England, and amongst the 

other posts that I have held since returning home to Wales I was the first NAW 

Commissioner for Standards from 2000 to 2012. 

  

Tudalen 43



12 

121

212

121

2 

 

2.10 I welcomed the opportunity lead this review and to collect the widest possible evidence 

about the strengths and weakness of the current ethical standards framework from those 

involved in the operation of the framework, how it might be improved and how the 

requirements of the recent legislation will be managed. The key question for all those I 

met with was - how can ethical standards in local government in Wales be enhanced, 

and on a practical point how can the number of complaints be reduced? 

 

2.11 I was required to produce a report on the review with my findings, conclusions and any 

relevant recommendations. 

 

2.12 I was referred initially to a range of documents in the public domain and in the course of 

my review I received a large number of other relevant documents, most of which are in 

the public domain but a number of which were submissions by individual consultees. 

 

2.13  My investigation has included a review of all of these documents together with interviews 

with a wide range of stakeholders involved in the operation of the ethical standards 

framework in Wales. 

 
 

2.14  I met with: 

 

Welsh Government officials 

  

Deputy Director, Local Government Democracy Division  

 

Head of Democracy, Diversity and Remuneration Branch  

 

Former Head of the Ethics and Regulations Team 

  

Policy lead, Ethical Standards Framework  

 

Head of Local Government Partnerships Policy  

 

Local Government Partnerships Policy - Community Councils & Regulation 

  

Head of Fire & Rescue Services Branch, Community Safety Division  

 

Head of Landscape & Outdoor Recreation, Economy, Skills and Natural 

Resources  

 

Head of Welsh Tribunals Unit 

 

 

Welsh Local Government Association 

  

Head of Policy (Improvement and Governance)  

 

Tudalen 44



13 

131

313

131

3 

 

Policy and Improvement Officer (Democratic Services) 

 

One Voice Wales  

 

Chief Executive 

  

Deputy Chief Executive and Resources Manager  

 

 

Society of Local Councils Clerks 

  

Wales Policy Liaison Officer  

 

 

Public Services Ombudsman for Wales  

 

Ombudsman 

  

Director of Policy, Legal and Governance  

 

 

Adjudication Panel for Wales 

  

APW President  

 

 

Monitoring Officers  

 

Monitoring Officer of Caerphilly County Borough Council  

  

Monitoring Officer of Cardiff Council  

 

Monitoring Officer of Ceredigion County Council 

  

Monitoring Officer of Conwy County Borough Council 

  

Monitoring Officer of Denbighshire County Council  

  

Monitoring Officer of Flintshire County Council  

  

Monitoring Officer of Gwynedd Council 

  

Monitoring Officer of Monmouthshire County Council   

 

Monitoring Officer of Powys County Council 

 

Tudalen 45



14 

141

414

141

4 

 

Monitoring Officer of Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council (written 

submission) 

 

Monitoring Officer of Vale of Glamorgan Council 

  

Monitoring Officer of Wrexham County Borough Council 

 

Meeting of Monitoring Officers Group 

 

Fire and Rescue Authorities  

 

Monitoring Officer of South Wales Fire and Rescue Authority  

 

National Park Authorities  

 

Monitoring Officer of Pembrokeshire Coast National Park Authority  

  

 

Chairs of Standards Committees 

 

Mid and North Wales Forum for Chairs of Standards Committees 

 

Chair of Cardiff Standards Committee 

 

Chair of Rhondda Cynon Taff Standards Committee 

 

Chair of Vale of Glamorgan Standards Committee 

 

Chair of Mid and West Wales Fire and Rescue Authority Standards Committee 

 

2.15 I thank all those that I interviewed as part of this review for their willingness to share with 

me openly and comprehensively their experience and their professional observations, 

opinions and conclusions about the operation of the ethical standards framework in 

Wales, and what needs to change to ensure that the framework is fit for purpose. 

Tudalen 46



15  

3 The current ethical standards framework for local government in Wales 

3.1 Part III of the Local Government Act 2000 (the 2000 Act) sets out an ethical standards 

framework for local government in Wales.  It created a power for the National Assembly 

for Wales to issue a Model Code of Conduct to apply to members and co-opted members 

of all relevant authorities in Wales (a county/county borough council; community council; 

fire and rescue authority; and a national park authority). This power was transferred to 

Welsh Ministers by the Government of Wales Act 2006. In 2008 (as amended on 1 April 

2016), Welsh Ministers issued the current Model Code of Conduct which all relevant 

authorities are required to adopt.  

3.2 The Model Code of Conduct sets out what is required of all elected members in respect 

of appropriate standards of conduct in public office.  For example, the Code requires 

members to show respect and consideration for others and not to use bullying behaviour 

or to harass any person.  Councillors must act objectively and in the public interest, 

having regard to the advice of officers, and they must not disclose confidential 

information or information which should reasonably be regarded as being of a 

confidential nature, without express consent or unless required by law to do so. 

3.2.1 The Local Government Act 2000 empowered the National Assembly to issue principles 

which those elected to relevant authorities must have regard to when undertaking their 

role. The Code of Conduct is based on these principles which are designed to promote 

the highest possible standards of conduct. These principles draw on the 7 Principles of 

Public Life which were set out in the Nolan Report ‘Standards of Conduct in Local 

Government in England, Scotland and Wales’. Three more principles were added to 

these: ‘a duty to uphold the law’, ‘proper stewardship of the Council’s resources’ and 

‘equality and respect for others’. The current principles were set out in a statutory 

instrument (1. The Conduct of Members (Principles) (Wales) Order 2001 SI 2001 

No.2276 (W.166)) 

3.2.2 Members elected to relevant authorities give generously of their time and commitment for 

the benefit of their communities. The 10 principles provide a framework for channelling 

that commitment in a way which will reflect well on the Councillor and their authority, and 

give the local community confidence in the way that the authority is governed. 

3.2.3 The individual sections of the Code of Conduct are designed to support the 

implementation of the 10 Principles of Public Life as detailed below.  

1. Selflessness  

Members must act solely in the public interest. They must never use their position 

as members to improperly confer an advantage on, or to avoid a disadvantage for, 

themselves or to improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on others. 

2. Honesty  

Members must declare any private interests relevant to their public duties and take 

steps to resolve any conflict in a way that protects the public interest.  

 

Tudalen 47



16  

3. Integrity and propriety  

Members must not put themselves in a position where their integrity is called into 

question by any financial or other obligation to individuals or organisations that 

might seek to influence them in the performance of their duties. Members must on 

all occasions avoid the appearance of such behaviour.  

4. Duty to uphold the law  

Members must act to uphold the law and act on all occasions in accordance with 

the trust that the public has placed in them.  

5. Stewardship  

In discharging their duties and responsibilities members must ensure that their 

authority’s resources are used both lawfully and prudently. 

6. Objectivity in decision-making  

In carrying out their responsibilities including making appointments, awarding 

contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits, members must 

make decisions on merit. Whilst members must have regard to the professional 

advice of officers and may properly take account of the views of others, including 

their political groups, it is their responsibility to decide what view to take and, if 

appropriate, how to vote on any issue.  

7. Equality and respect  

Members must carry out their duties and responsibilities with due regard to the 

need to promote equality of opportunity for all people, regardless of their gender, 

race, disability, sexual orientation, age or religion, and show respect and 

consideration for others.  

8. Openness  

Members must be as open as possible about all their actions and those of their 

authority. They must seek to ensure that disclosure of information is restricted only 

in accordance with the law.  

9. Accountability  

Members are accountable to the electorate and the public generally for their 

actions and for the way they carry out their responsibilities as a member. They 

must be prepared to submit themselves to such scrutiny as is appropriate to their 

responsibilities.  

10. Leadership  

Members must promote and support these principles by leadership and example 

so as to promote public confidence in their role and in the authority. They must 

respect the impartiality and integrity of the authority’s statutory officers and its 

other employees. 

Tudalen 48



17  

3.2.4 The Principles are not part of the Model Code of Conduct and failure to comply with the 

Principles is not of itself indicative of a breach of the Code. However, it is likely that, for 

example, a failure to adhere to the Principle concerning ‘equality and respect’ would 

constitute a breach of the requirements of paragraphs 4(a) and 4(b) of the Code in 

respect of equality of opportunity and respect.  

3.2.5 All relevant authorities in Wales were required to adopt the Code in its Model form in its 

entirety, but could make additions to the Code provided these were consistent with the 

Model Code. This was intended to give certainty both to elected members and to the 

public as to what standards are expected. It helps to ensure consistency throughout 

relevant authorities, avoiding confusion for those elected members who serve on more 

than one authority and for the general public.  

3.2.6 All elected members, when they sign the Declaration of Acceptance of Office, confirm 

that they will comply with their Council’s Code of Conduct. It is the member’s personal 

responsibility to ensure that they understand their obligations under the Code and act in 

a way which shows that they are committed to meeting the high standards of conduct 

that are expected of them as a member. Ultimately, as a member, they are responsible 

for the decisions they take and can be held to account for them. However, this does not 

imply that they can take decisions which breach the Code or which are contrary to advice 

simply because the decision is theirs to take.  

3.2.7 The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales has issued very helpful guidance to assist 

Councillors in deciding when the Code of Conduct applies to them:  

 Conduct in public and private life  

Members are entitled to privacy in their personal lives, and many of the provisions 

of the Code only apply when he or she is acting as an elected member or acting 

as a representative of the Council. However, as there may be circumstances in 

which a member’s behaviour in private life can impact on the reputation and 

integrity of the Council, some of the provisions of the Code apply at all times. 

When reaching a decision as to whether the Code applies at a particular time the 

Ombudsman has regard to the particular circumstances and the nature of the 

conduct at that time.  

 When does the Code apply?  

o whenever a member acts in an official capacity, including whenever they 

are conducting the business of heir authority or acting, claiming to act, or 

give the impression that they are acting, in their official capacity as a 

member or as a representative of their authority.  

o at any time, if the member conducts themself in a manner which could 

reasonably be regarded as bringing their office or their authority into 

disrepute or if they use or attempt to use their position to gain an advantage 

or avoid a disadvantage for themself or any other person or if they misuse 

their authority’s resources.  

Tudalen 49



18  

o where a member acts as a representative of their Council on another 

relevant authority, or any other body, they must, when acting for that other 

authority, comply with their Council’s Code of Conduct. When nominated by 

their Council as a trustee of a charity they are obliged when acting as such 

to do so in the best interests of that charity, in accordance with charity law 

and with the guidance which has been produced by the Charity 

Commission.  

o if a member is acting as a representative of his or her Council on another 

body, for example on an event committee, which does not have a Code of 

Conduct relating to its members, the member must comply with their 

Council’s own Code unless it conflicts with any legal requirements that the 

other body has to comply with. 

o if a member refers to them self as Councillor, the Code will apply. This 

applies in conversation, in writing, or in the use of electronic media. There 

has been a significant rise in complaints to the Ombudsman concerning the 

use of Facebook, blogs and Twitter. If the member refers to their role as a 

Councillor in any way or comments that they make are clearly related to 

that role then the Code will apply to any comments that are made there. 

Even if the member does not refer to their role as a Councillor, the 

comments may have the effect of bringing their office or authority into 

disrepute and could therefore breach paragraph 6(1)(a) of the Code. The 

Welsh Local Government Association has produced useful guidance on 

social media entitled ‘Social Media: A Guide for Councillors’. The guidance 

aims to provide members with a clearer idea about how they can use social 

media, the possible pitfalls and how to avoid them.  

o if a member is suspended from office for any reason, they must still observe 

those elements of the Code which apply, particularly as set out in 

paragraph 2(1)(d), while they are suspended.  

3.3 The ethical standards framework in Wales is intended to promote high standards of 

conduct by Councillors.  The Standards Committees of principal councils established 

under section 53 of the 2000 Act have a key role in this regard. They are made up of 

independent lay members together with elected members of the authority with an 

independent member as Chair.  

3.3.1 The ‘general functions’ of a Standards Committee are: 

 promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by members of the 

authority;  

and 

 assisting members to observe the Code of Conduct adopted by the Council 

3.3.2 A Standards Committee also has the following ‘specific functions’: 

 advising the authority on the adoption or revision of a Code of Conduct; 

Tudalen 50



19  

 monitoring the operation of the Code of Conduct;  

and 

 advising, training or arranging training for members on matters relating to the 

Code of conduct. 

3.3.3 Under other provisions of the 2000 Act, Standards Committees also consider 

applications by members for dispensation to participate in business for which they have a 

prejudicial interest. They consider and adjudicate on alleged breaches of the Code of 

Conduct following investigation by the Public Services Ombudsman or, less often, the 

relevant Monitoring Officer.  Although there has been a tendency for some Committees 

to see the latter as their key role, their primary focus should be on proactive measures to 

support members of their Council to maintain appropriate standards of conduct and 

thereby avoid breaches of the Code.  Standards Committees do this through a variety of 

means, such as working with political group leaders, attending and monitoring Council 

meetings and reporting annually to Councils on their activities and the standards of 

conduct within the authority. 

3.3.4 The Standards Committee of a principal Council also exercises the above functions in 

respect of members of Town and Community Councils in its area.  However, subject to 

consultation with those Councils in its area, a sub-committee may be established to 

undertake all the functions of a Standards Committee in relation to Community Councils. 

Standards Committees of principal Councils are required to assist members and co-

opted members of Community Councils in their area to observe the Code of Conduct, 

and to arrange for advice and training to be provided. Whilst Community Councillors do 

not act on decision-making bodies such as Planning Committees they are called upon to 

take decisions on the allocation of funding from the Council’s precept and to offer 

guidance, drawing on valuable local knowledge, to the County Council about the impact 

of planning applications. It is imperative that Community Council members are fully 

aware of the Code of Conduct and its implications for their decision-making and whether 

they should be involved in making a decision. 

3.3.5  When a case is referred to a Standards Committee its role is to decide whether a 

member has breached the Code and whether a sanction should be imposed. Hearings 

are normally conducted in public unless there are valid reasons for not doing so to 

promote public confidence in standards in public life. Where a Standards Committee 

concludes that a member or co-opted member has failed to comply with the relevant 

Council’s Code of Conduct, it may determine that:  

 no action needs to be taken in respect of that failure  

 the member or co-opted member should be censured which takes the form of a 

public rebuke,  

or  

•  the member or co-opted member should be suspended or partially suspended from 

being a member of that authority for a period not exceeding six months or if 

shorter, the remainder of the member’s term of office.  

Tudalen 51



20  

3.3.6 A member subject to a sanction may seek the permission of the President of the 

Adjudication Panel for Wales to appeal against the determination of a Standards 

Committee  

 

3.4 The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales has powers to investigate allegations that 

individual Councillors in Wales have failed to comply with their Council’s Member Code 

of Conduct.  A complaint about a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct must be 

made direct to the Ombudsman, who will decide whether it is appropriate to investigate 

the matter. 

 

3.4.1 Where the Ombudsman considers a complaint warrants investigation, the investigation 

will usually be undertaken by the Ombudsman.  However, the Ombudsman has powers 

to refer complaints to the appropriate local authority Monitoring Officer for investigation 

and determination by the local Standards Committee. The Ombudsman may refer a 

report on the outcome of an investigation by his office to the relevant Standards 

Committee or, generally in more serious cases, the Adjudication Panel for Wales. 

 

3.4.2 The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales investigates complaints that members of 

relevant authorities in Wales have breached the Code. In determining whether to 

investigate a complaint or whether to continue an investigation of a breach of the Code 

the Ombudsman uses a two-stage test: 

  

   the first stage is to establish whether there is direct evidence that a breach of 

the Code actually took place. The level of proof that is required is ‘on the 

balance of probabilities’ 

  if that first evidential stage is met, at the second stage the Ombudsman 

considers whether an investigation or a referral to a Standards Committees 

or the Adjudication Panel for Wales is required ‘in the public interest’. Public 

interest factors include:  

o the seriousness of the breach  

o whether the member deliberately sought personal gain for themselves 

or another person at the public expense 

o whether the circumstances of the breach are such that a member has 

misused a position of trust or authority and caused harm to a person 

o  whether the breach was motivated by any form of discrimination 

against the victim’s ethnic or national origin, gender, disability, age, 

religion or belief, sexual orientation or gender identity  

o whether there is evidence of previous similar behaviour on the part of 

the member 

Tudalen 52



21  

o  whether the investigation or referral to a Standards Committee or the 

Adjudication Panel for Wales is required to maintain public confidence 

in elected members in Wales 

o  whether investigation or referral to a Standards Committee or the 

Adjudication Panel of Wales is a proportionate response, namely, 

whether it is likely that the breach would lead to a sanction being 

applied to the member (the Ombudsman takes account of the outcomes 

of previous cases considered by Standards Committees across Wales 

and the Adjudication Panel for Wales), and whether the use of 

resources in carrying out an investigation or hearing by a Standards 

Committee or the Adjudication Panel for Wales would be regarded as 

excessive when weighed against any likely sanction.  

3.4.3 These factors are not exhaustive and the weight to be attached to each will vary 

according to the facts and merits of each case. The Ombudsman has a wide discretion 

as to whether to begin or continue an investigation. He has revised the two-stage test 

adopted by his predecessor in order to provide greater clarity on how he will usually 

exercise his discretion and to secure a degree of consistency and certainty in the 

decisions that he reaches.  

3.4.4 When the Ombudsman has investigated a complaint he may refer the matter to a 

relevant Standards Committee or to the Adjudication Panel for Wales for determination. 

This will depend on the nature of and individual circumstances of the alleged breach. 

When issuing his report the Ombudsman reflects on and analyses the evidence gathered 

and draws his conclusions as to whether it is likely that a breach of the Code has 

occurred. However, the authority and responsibility to make a determination of breach 

rests solely with a Standards Committee or the Adjudication Panel for Wales. 

  

3.5 Local Resolution Process  

Most principal councils in Wales have adopted local resolution procedures to deal with 

low level complaints which are made by a member against a fellow member. These 

arrangements are proving to be effective at resolving many of these kinds of complaints, 

and there are a number of Community Councils that have adopted a similar procedure 

using the Model Local Resolution procedure developed for their use by One Voice 

Wales. Typically these complaints will be about alleged failures to show respect and 

consideration for others as required by paragraph 4(b) of the Code of Conduct or the 

duty not to make vexatious, malicious or frivolous complaints against other members 

under paragraph 6(1)(d) of the Code. Whilst a member may still complain directly to the 

Ombudsman about a fellow member if the matter being complained about concerns 

paragraphs 4(b) and 6(1)(d), he is likely to refer the matter back to the principal council’s 

Monitoring Officer for consideration under this process. It is generally accepted that such 

complaints are more appropriately resolved informally and locally in order to speed up 

the complaints process and to ensure that the Ombudsman’s resources are devoted to 

the investigation of serious complaints. 

Tudalen 53



22  

3.5.1 The aim of local resolution is to resolve matters at an early stage so as to avoid the 

unnecessary escalation of the situation which may damage personal relationships within 

the authority and the authority’s reputation. The process may result in an apology being 

made by the member concerned. However, where a member has repeatedly breached 

their authority’s local protocol then the Ombudsman expects the Monitoring Officer to 

refer the matter back to him, and if he sees a pattern of similar complaints being made by 

the same members he considers this to be a serious matter and decide whether the 

persistent reporting of such complaints is conduct which in itself should be investigated 

as a potential breach of the Code.  

 

3.6 The Adjudication Panel for Wales  

The Adjudication Panel for Wales is an independent tribunal established under Part III of 

the Local Government Act 2000 that has been set up to determine alleged breaches 

against an authority’s statutory Code of Conduct by elected and co-opted members of 

Welsh county, county borough and community councils, fire and national park authorities. 

3.6.1 The Adjudication Panel for Wales has two statutory functions in relation to breaches of 

the Code of Conduct: 

•  to form Case or Interim Case Tribunals to consider references from the Public 

Service Ombudsman for Wales following his investigation of allegations that a 

member has failed to comply with their authority’s Code of Conduct; 

  

and 

 
• to consider appeals from members against the decisions of local authority 

standards committees that they have breached the Code of Conduct in Appeal 

Tribunals. 

Tudalen 54



23  

3.6.2  The Adjudication Panel for Wales’ procedures are governed by the following legislation: 

 

•   The Local Government Act 2000 (as amended); 

 

• The Adjudications by Case Tribunals and Interim Case Tribunals (Wales) 

Regulations 2001 (as amended);  

 

and 

 

• The Local Government Investigations (Functions of Monitoring Officers and 

Standards Committees (Wales) Regulations 2001 (as amended)). 

3.6.3 The Adjudication Panel for Wales operates in accordance with its procedural regulations 

and other associated legislation. The regulations ensure that all cases heard by the 

Panel are treated fairly, consistently, promptly and justly. They ensure that everyone who 

comes before the Adjudication Panel for Wales clearly understands the steps they must 

take so that the facts of the dispute and the relevant arguments can be presented 

effectively to the Panel. They also ensure that every party to a case understands the 

arguments of the other party and can respond to them. 

3.6.4 Anyone wishing to respond to a reference from the Public Services Ombudsman for 

Wales or to make an application for permission to appeal to the Adjudication Panel for 

Wales must complete and send the relevant form to the Panel. At an Adjudication Panel 

for Wales Hearing the Panel is composed of a legally qualified chairperson and two lay 

members. Legally qualified members can also sit as a lay member. Panel Hearings are 

normally held in public and take place close to the authority area. The Adjudication Panel 

for Wales publishes its decisions on its website. Decisions of Case Tribunals can be 

appealed on limited grounds to the High Court, and permission to appeal to the High 

Court must first be sought from the High Court. 

3.6.5 When the Public Services Ombudsman refers a case to the Adjudication Panel for Wales 

its role is to determine whether a member has breached the Code and whether a 

sanction should be imposed. The powers available to the Panel when it determines that a 

member or co-opted member has failed to comply with the Code are:  

•  to disqualify the respondent from being, or becoming, a member of the relevant 

authority concerned or any other relevant authority for a period of up to five years  

•  to suspend or partially suspend the respondent from being a member or co-opted 

member of the relevant authority concerned for up to 12 months, or  

•  to take no action in respect of the breach. In such cases the Panel may deem it 

appropriate to warn the member as to their future conduct. Where such a warning 

has been recorded it is likely to be taken into account during any future hearing 

where the member is found again to have failed to follow the provisions of the 

Code.  

 

Tudalen 55



24  

3.6.6 Where either a Standards Committee or the Panel suspends or partly suspends a 

member or co-opted member that member is still subject to the Code of Conduct, in 

particular the provisions set out in paragraphs 6(1)(a) (‘bringing the office of member or 

authority into disrepute’) and paragraph 7 (‘improperly using the position of member’).  

 

3.7 The role of the Monitoring Officer of a principal council 

The Monitoring Officer is an officer employed by the County or County Borough Council. 

Among many other things they advise and assist County Councillors. Monitoring Officers 

may offer some training and advice to Community Councils in their area. The Monitoring 

Officer has a significant role in the local resolution process outlined earlier and they will 

also work closely in advising the Council’s Standards Committee.  

 

3.8 The role of the Clerk of a Community Council 

The Clerk has a complex role and advises Community Councillors on relevant legislation, 

including matters relating to the Code of Conduct and on the Council’s Standing Orders. 

The Clerk will work closely with the Chair to ensure that appropriate procedures are 

followed at meetings and that all necessary information is available to Councillors so that 

they may make informed decisions. Clerks may approach their relevant County or 

County Borough Council’s Monitoring Officer for advice and support. 

3.8.1 The Clerk is an employee of the Council and is not required to abide by the Code of 

Conduct. Any issues regarding the performance of the Clerk are personnel matters and 

should be addressed using appropriate employment procedures. The Public Services 

Ombudsman for Wales cannot consider complaints regarding the performance of the 

Clerk as this is a matter for the Council as the Clerk’s employer. 

 

3.9 Complaints to the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 

3.9.1 In 2019/20 the Public Services Ombudsman received 231 new Code of Conduct 

complaints - a decrease of 18% compared to 2018/19:  

     2019/20      2018/19 

Town and Community Councils        135          190  

County and County Borough Councils         96            91  

National Parks              0              1  

Total                      231          282  

3.9.2  This decrease in 2019/20 related almost wholly to the reduction in complaints made by or 

against members of Community Councils. The Ombudsman found this encouraging and 

suggested in his Annual Report for 2019/20 that standards of conduct of members of 

Tudalen 56



25  

these bodies may be improving and/or that the local resolution of issues may be taking 

place with good effect. Nevertheless, he is still receiving complaints in respect of a small 

number of Community Councils which appear to border on frivolity or are motivated by 

political rivalry or clashes of personalities, rather than being true Code of Conduct issues. 

When I spoke with him he exemplified this by referring to one complaint he had received 

that one member of a Community Council had been clicking his biro aggressively at 

another member. 18% of the Community Council complaints received related to 

members of just one body and were, in effect, ‘tit for tat’ complaints. The Ombudsman 

has, where appropriate, advised members that making frivolous and/or vexatious 

complaints is a breach of the Code of Conduct in itself.  

3.9.3 In 2019/20 135 of the 231 complaints considered by the Public Services Ombudsman for 

Wales concerned Community Councillors, a welcome 18% reduction from the 190 

complaints about Community Councilors considered by the Ombudsman in 2018/19. 

However, whilst the Ombudsman hoped that this was a sign that standards of conduct in 

Community Councils in particular was improving, and although the Ombudsman’s Annual 

Report for 2020/21 is not yet published, when I spoke with him he gave me advance 

notice of a 47% rise in the number of complaints he received in 2020/21. He also told me 

that the early indications are that there will be a further significant increase in the current 

year (2021/22). He expressed concern that too much of his organisation’s time is spent 

filtering complaints – over 400 in 2020/21 – the vast majority of which do not warrant 

investigation. In the Ombudsman’s view mandatory training of all Councillors combined 

with increased local resolution of many of these low-level complaints is the key to making 

his work more focused and efficient, and the extension of his power to refer complaints 

back for local resolution would be a beneficial change to the current framework. 

3.9.4 As in previous years, the majority of the Code of Conduct complaints received during 

2019/20 related to matters of ‘promotion of equality and respect’ (49%) and ‘disclosure 

and registration of interests’ (17%). The Ombudsman expressed concern that these 

themes continue to dominate and that there has been a year on year increase in the 

number of complaints where bullying behaviour is being alleged, particularly from Clerks 

or employees/contractors of principal councils/County and County Borough Councils or 

Community Councils. He considers that members could benefit from training or refresher 

training on these subjects although his impression from investigations is that many 

members of Community Councils often do not take up opportunities offered to them to 

receive training on the Code of Conduct.  

3.9.5 The Ombudsman’s view, endorsed by all of those I met with during my review, is that 

Code of Conduct training is essential to becoming a ‘good Councillor’, and that members 

should undertake this training as soon as they become elected/co-opted and that there 

should be regular refreshment on the provisions and requirements of the Code of 

Conduct. There is currently no statutory obligation for members of Community Councils 

to complete such training although they are required to comply with the Code.  

3.9.6 In 2019/20, 202 or approximately 86% of all Code of Conduct complaints were closed 

after assessment against the Public Services Ombudsman’s two-stage test or after a 

complaint was withdrawn at the assessment stage. This proportion is only marginally 

higher compared to the previous year (83%). The remaining complaints taken forward to 

Tudalen 57



26  

investigation represented the most serious of the complaints received.  

3.9.7 During the Ombudsman’s investigation, evidence gathered is reviewed to assess 

whether it remains in the public interest to continue the investigation. Where it appears 

that investigating a matter is no longer in the public interest, the decision is made by the 

Ombudsman to discontinue that investigation. Sometimes the investigation finds no 

evidence of a breach. Finally, when an investigation is concluded, the Ombudsman can 

determine that ‘no action needs to be taken’ in respect of the matters investigated. This 

will often be the case if the member has acknowledged the behaviour may be suggestive 

of a breach of the Code and has expressed remorse or taken corrective or reparatory 

action to minimise the impact of it on the individual, the public or the authority concerned. 

The Ombudsman made one or the other of these above determinations in 85% of the 

Code of Conduct investigations in 2019/20. 

3.9.8 In cases which cannot be concluded in this manner or which point to serious breaches of 

the Code, it is necessary for the Ombudsman to refer the case to a relevant local 

Standards Committee or to the Adjudication Panel for Wales for consideration. In 

2019/20 5 referrals were made, 2% of all the Code of Conduct complaints that were 

closed, compared to 8 or 3% in 2018/19. In 2019/20 these referrals were:  

 4 referrals to Standards Committees  

 1 referral to the Adjudication Panel for Wales  

3.9.9 The Adjudication Panel for Wales or the relevant local Standards Committee considers 

the evidence, together with any defence put forward by the member concerned. It then 

determines whether a breach of the Code has occurred and if so, what penalty, if any, 

should be imposed.  

3.9.10 The 4 referrals to Standards Committees in 2019/20 concerned behaviour which was 

considered to be disrespectful, capable of being perceived as bullying and/or 

disreputable behaviour. One of the cases referred involved conduct indicating bullying 

behaviour towards an employee of a contractor of the authority. When the 2019/20 

Annual Report was published, the Adjudication Panel for Wales was considering an 

appeal on the issue of sanction only in that case. Two of the referrals featured behaviour 

which suggested that the members had used their positions improperly to create an 

advantage or disadvantage for themselves or others. When the 2019/20 Annual Report 

was published, these two referrals were awaiting determination.  

3.9.11 The referral to the Adjudication Panel for Wales concerned the conduct and behaviour of 

a member in their private life and considered whether the behaviour complained about 

was capable of impacting on and bringing their authority into disrepute. It also concerned 

whether that member had used their position improperly for the advantage of another. In 

the case of this referral, the Panel determined there were serious breaches of the Code. 

As a result, the member was suspended from holding office for 3 months. 

 

  

Tudalen 58



27  

3.9.12 Between 2016/17 and 2018/19, the Adjudication Panel for Wales and Standards 

Committees upheld and found breaches in 88% of referrals by the Ombudsman. In 

2019/20 Standards Committees and the Adjudication Panel for Wales also determined 5 

cases referred by the Ombudsman. In all these cases, the Standards Committees and 

the Panel found serious breaches of the Code. Some of the breaches found included 

serious examples of disrespectful, disreputable and improper behaviour on the part of 

members towards other members and members of the public. In one case, the member 

was found to have been in breach of the Code for attempting to interfere with and 

prejudice the Ombudsman’s investigation of a complaint made about them. In all cases, 

the members, or former member, concerned were suspended for a period of 4 months. 

3.9.13 As is clear from these statistics above, the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 

makes referrals to a Standards Committee or the Adjudication Panel for Wales only in a 

very small number of cases, and he does not believe that the case referrals are indicative 

of a wider decline in member conduct in Welsh local government. Nevertheless, the 

outcomes of these referrals demonstrate the importance of standards of conduct in public 

life and provide a helpful indication to members of all authorities as to the behaviours 

expected of them. Even when the Ombudsman does not refer a case, the investigation is 

used as an opportunity to promote good practice, and the members investigated are 

reminded of their obligations under the Code and, where relevant, further training or 

engagement with the authority to prevent further possible breaches is proposed. 

Members are also sometimes made aware that the matter could be taken into 

consideration in the event of any future complaints of a similar nature. The Ombudsman 

is clear in his report that it is important that innovative and pragmatic ways to resolve 

matters to ensure a timelier outcome for all concerned should be deployed.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 59



28  

4 My findings 

4.1 In the course of my review I have met with most of those individuals and organisations 

that are involved in the operation of the ethical standards framework in Wales. The 

overwhelming consensus is that the current framework is ‘fit for purpose’, works well in 

practice and a large number of those that I consulted proposed that ‘if it ain’t broke don’t 

fix it’. Many respondents commented that the ethical standards framework that applies in 

Wales is far superior to that currently used in English local government partly because, 

unlike in England, the Code of Conduct applies both when a Councillor is acting in their 

official capacity and when a Councillor behaves in a way that could be regarded as 

bringing their office or their authority into disrepute, and partly because the separation of 

roles and responsibilities as described earlier in the Welsh framework provides a degree 

of genuine independence in the way that complaints are assessed and investigated. 

However, it is also clear that with some minor adjustments and amendments to the 

current framework this could result in a lower number of low level complaints made and 

the need for formal investigations that are required into allegations that there has been a 

breach of the Code of Conduct being significantly reduced, and that the already high 

ethical standards in Welsh local government could be further enhanced. 

4.2    The Model Code of Conduct 

4.2.1  Clear, relevant, and proportionate Codes of Conduct are central to maintaining ethical 

standards in public life. Codes of Conduct were identified by the Committee on 

Standards in Public Life in its first report in 1995 as one of the essential ‘strands’ in 

promoting and maintaining ethical standards in public life, at a time when many public 

sector organisations did not have them. Codes of Conduct play an important role in 

maintaining ethical standards in an organisation. They are not an alternative to values 

and principles, but they make clear how those values and principles should be put into 

practice. They enable people to be held to account for their actions by setting out clear 

expectations about how they should behave. 

4.2.2 The power to issue a Code of Conduct was transferred to Welsh Ministers by the 

Government of Wales Act 2006, and in 2008 (amended on 1 April 2016), Welsh Ministers 

issued the current Model Code of Conduct which all relevant authorities are required to 

adopt. In Wales, unlike in England, the Code of Conduct applies both when a Councillor 

is acting in their official capacity (including if they claim to act or give the impression that 

they are acting in that capacity), and when a Councillor behaves in a way that could 

‘reasonably be regarded as bringing [their] office or [their] authority into disrepute’. This 

includes any time a Councillor attempts to use their position to gain advantages (or to 

avoid disadvantages) for themselves or others, or misuses their local authority’s 

resources. As noted earlier, the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales has also issued 

guidance of the application of the Code of Conduct to social media use. 

4.2.3 I was required as part of this review to conduct an audit of the Codes of Conduct adopted 

by all the relevant authorities in Wales against the Model Code to identify any local 

variances and to consider whether the ten ‘principles’ of conduct are still relevant and 

whether the Model Code of Conduct needs updating. This would include identification of 

areas where improvements could/should be made. The Monitoring Officers of all 

Tudalen 60



29  

principal councils, National Parks Authorities, and Fire and Rescue Authorities 

responded to my request for information about the Code of Conduct that had been 

adopted by their Authority and with only one exception (a County Council) the response 

was that the Model Code of Conduct had been  adopted without significant variations or 

additions. However, a number of local authorities (over one half) have also adopted a 

local resolution procedure or protocol supplementary to the Model Code and over one 

half of local authorities also have a mandatory training requirement, again not as part of 

the Code itself but supplementary to it. In other authorities this is an expectation rather 

than being mandatory. 

4.2.4 Paragraph 17 of the Model Code requires members, within 28 days of receiving any gift, 

hospitality, material benefit or advantage above a value specified in a resolution of their 

authority, provide written notification to the authority's monitoring officer, or in relation to 

a Community Council, to the authority’s ‘proper officer’ of the existence and nature of that 

gift, hospitality, material benefit or advantage. The Code does not specify any threshold 

for such declarations but a number of authorities have specified a threshold beyond 

which there must be a declaration. This ranges from £21 to £100 and there is agreement 

that the threshold should be specified in the Code to ensure consistency across Wales. 

4.2.5 I was also required to explore options to bring the requirements of the Register of 

Interests provisions in the Model Code of Conduct Order in line with the policy of the 

Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 to stop Councillors’ addresses being 

published. As I understand it, the law requiring the publication of the home addresses of 

Councillors was changed in the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 so 

Councils will no longer do this from May 2022.  This is for the safety and privacy of 

members, and reflects the fact that email or phone is now a more usual way of 

contacting members. However, Regulations issued under the Local Government Act 

2000 still require members to include their home address in the Council’s Register of 

Interests so the legislation is not in alignment. There is agreement that the Code of 

Conduct should not require Councillors to disclose their home address to declare the 

home address, and that Paragraph 10.2.(vi) of the Model Code of Conduct should be 

amended to read: 

 

‘any land (other than the principal residence) in which you have a beneficial 

interest and which is in the area of your authority’ 

 

4.2.6 The Public Services Ombudsman has raised an issue in relation to the definition of 

‘person’, a term frequently used in the Model Code of Conduct.  A ‘person’ is not defined 

either in the 2000 Local Government Act or in the Model Code of Conduct so the 

Ombudsman has had to rely on the definition in the Interpretation Act 1978 which is ‘a 

body of persons corporate or unincorporate’.  The Ombudsman has been challenged 

when he has tried to use his powers to obtain information from a company or a charity 

and he has to threaten and or use powers to formally bring criminal proceedings and or 

contempt proceedings under current legislation for failing to cooperate with the 

investigation by the Ombudsman. So a clear definition of what is meant by a ‘person’ on 

the face of the legislation or in the Model Code would be beneficial. 

 

Tudalen 61



30  

 

4.2.7 Paragraph 4a of the Model Code of Conduct requires that a member must: 

 

‘carry out your duties and responsibilities with due regard to the principle that there 

should be equality of opportunity for all people, regardless of their gender, race, 

disability, sexual orientation, age or religion’ 

 

There is concern that this provision does not include all protected characteristics, and the 

view from consultees is that even though no problems have resulted as yet from the 

narrow coverage of this provision it should be extended to include all nine protected 

characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 – race, religion or belief, age, disability,  sex 

(gender), sexual orientation, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, 

pregnancy and maternity. 

 

4.2.8 It is clear that there is the potential for breaches of the Code of Conduct resulting from 

the extensive and increasing use being made by elected members of a range of social 

media. The Welsh Local Government Association has produced useful guidance on 

social media in ‘Social Media: A Guide for Councillors’. The guidance provides members 

with advice about how to use social media, the possible pitfalls and how to avoid them. It 

reminds members that whenever something is posted on social media it becomes a 

publication, and is effectively made a broadcast in the public domain that is subject to 

both the Code of Conduct and to various laws. The WLGA guidance reminds members 

that the Code of Conduct applies to members whenever they are ‘Conducting the 

business of your authority, acting, claiming to act or give the impression you are acting in 

your official capacity as a member or representative of your authority’, and the Code 

applies if a member conducts them self  ‘in a manner which could reasonably be 

regarded as bringing your office or your authority into disrepute’. If a member can be 

identified as a Councillor when using social media, either by the account name or how 

they are described or by what they comment on and how they comment, the 

requirements of the Code of Conduct apply. If a member says something that could be 

regarded as bringing their office or authority into disrepute the Code applies even if the 

member is not apparently acting in an official capacity or does not identify him or herself 

as a member. The Ombudsman’s guidance states that: 

 

 ‘Making unfair or inaccurate criticism of your authority in a public arena might well be 

regarded as bringing your authority into disrepute’, and in the same way that you 

are required to act in Council meetings or in your communities you should: 

  

 show respect for others - do not use social media to be rude or disrespectful 

 

 not disclose confidential information about people or the Council 

 

 not bully or intimidate others - repeated negative comments about or to 

individuals could be interpreted as bullying or intimidation 

 

 not try to secure a benefit for yourself or a disadvantage for others 

Tudalen 62



31  

 

 abide by the law on equality - do not publish anything that might be seen as 

racist, sexist, ageist, homophobic, anti-faith or offensive to any of the groups 

with protected characteristics defined in the Equality Act 2010, even as a joke 

or ‘tongue in cheek’ 

 

This helpful guidance by the WLGA and the Public Services Ombudsman should be 

formalised by appropriate amendments to the Model Code of Conduct.  

 

4.2.9   Criminal convictions  

 

6(1)(b) of the Code of Conduct places the obligation on elected members to report the 

criminal behaviour of others but not of themselves. It states: 

 

(You must) ‘report, whether through your authority's confidential reporting procedure 

or direct to the proper authority, any conduct by another member or anyone who 

works for, or on behalf of, your authority which you reasonably believe involves or is 

likely to involve criminal behaviour (which for the purposes of this paragraph does not 

include offences or behaviour capable of punishment by way of a fixed penalty)’ 

 

In practice, most members have self-reported to the Public Services Ombudsman for 

possible breaches of the Code as a result of criminal conduct. However, there have been 

cases where this has not happened until the Monitoring Officer’s DBS checks have 

identified convictions or the matter has been reported in the press.  The Code of Conduct 

should be appropriately amended to make this an obligation of the member to 

themselves report on their own criminal conduct. 

 

4.3    Training for Councillors 

 

4.3.1 Without exception, every individual or organisational representative that I met in the 

course of this review expressed the view that initial training for all Councillors on the 

requirements of the Code of Conduct adopted by their authority should be mandatory, 

and that this initial training should be regularly ‘refreshed’. The simplest way to achieve 

universal mandatory training would be to include a commitment to undertake the 

necessary training in the Declaration of Acceptance of Office that all elected members in 

Wales are required to sign under The Local Elections (Declaration of Acceptance of 

Office) (Wales) Order 2004 before they can act as a Councillor, in the same way that 

they are currently required to undertake to observe the Code of Conduct adopted by their 

authority. It may require legislation to amend the 2004 Order appropriately. As was 

demonstrated in the audit of the Codes of Conduct adopted by all the relevant authorities 

mandatory training on the Code of Conduct is already a requirement of more than half of 

the principal councils so this would not be a controversial development for members of 

principal councils. However, although all members of Community Councils are currently 

required under the 2004 Order to be bound by the Code of Conduct it may be seen as a 

matter of controversy for them to be required also commit to training without due notice 

so advice that this is the case could be provided to all those considering standing for 

Tudalen 63



32  

election. Alternatively, it may be easier to amend the Code of Conduct to require those 

subject to the Code to undergo appropriate training on the Code. 

 

4.3.2 If initial and refresher training on the Code is made mandatory there will need to be 

consideration of how that training can be resourced and delivered. At the moment many 

Monitoring Officers provide training on the Code of Conduct not only to their own 

members but also to members of Community Councils in the area. Some of the larger 

Community Councils arrange the training themselves, often using the training materials 

developed by One Voice Wales on the Code of Conduct and wider governance matters. 

Sometimes One Voice Wales provides the training direct but this has resource 

implications particularly for the smaller Community Councils.  

 

4.4     Standards Committees and Independent Chairs 

4.4.1  I met with a number of Independent Chairs of Standards Committees and also attended a 

meeting of the North Wales Forum for Chairs of Standards Committees in the course of 

this review. I was struck by the variation in the way that Standards Committees in Wales 

see their remit and at the role played by the Independent Chairs of Standards 

Committees. At the one extreme Standards Committees and their Independent Chairs 

seem to have either been given or have adopted a very limited role, meeting infrequently 

and only really active when there is a Hearing of a case referred by the Public Services 

Ombudsman for Wales. At the other extreme there are Standards Committees and 

Chairs that see their remit much wider than this, and as leading the development and 

maintenance of the ethical standards framework in that local authority.  In particular 

these Standards Committees and Chairs, along with the Monitoring Officer, act as a 

primary source of advice, support and guidance to the Community Councils in their area. 

In a number of authorities the Independent Members of the Committee attend meetings 

not only of their own Council but also meetings of the Community Councils in their area, 

recording their assessment of the meeting generally and the conduct of members 

specifically and feeding this assessment back to the Clerk and Chair of the Community 

Council. They stand ready to intervene if necessary to assist the Council and its Clerk to 

deal with challenging and inappropriate behaviour by members of that Council and, in 

one case, the Independent Chair monitors the situation in particularly problematic 

Community Councils in his or her area and intervenes to ‘police’ the behavior of the 

members involved. 

4.4.2 There needs to be a consistency of approach and for the remit of the Standards 

Committee to be generally similar across Wales, accepting that ‘one size does not fit all’ 

and that there is a need for the local Standards Committee to reflect the specifics of the 

local situation for the principal authority concerned. The Chair of the Standards 

Committee should play a leadership role, along with the Chief Executive, the Monitoring 

Officer and the Leaders of political groups in promoting high standards of conduct across 

the Council. 

 

4.4.3 The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 has, at its core, the principles of 

democracy, diversity, transparency and accountability to the citizens of Wales. The Act 

includes a number of provisions which are fundamental to greater transparency and 

Tudalen 64



33  

openness between local Councils and communities, as well as measures to combat 

bullying and harassment amongst elected members and Council staff. These provisions 

include: 

 

o a new duty on leaders of political groups in principal councils to take reasonable 

steps to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by the members of 

their group 

o a requirement for the group leader(s) to co-operate with the Council’s Standards 

Committee in the exercise of its functions to promote and maintain high 

standards of conduct across the Council 

o new functions for Standards Committees to ensure group leaders have access to 

advice and training to support their new duties and to monitor group leaders’ 

compliance with those duties 

o a requirement for the Standards Committee to make an annual report to the 

authority on the discharge of its functions, its assessment of standards of 

conduct within the authority and any recommendations for improving standards.  

This report at the end of each financial year should describe how the 

Committee’s functions have been discharged during the financial year and 

setting out an overview of conduct matters within the Council.The Council will be 

obliged to consider the report within three months of its receipt.  This new duty 

will help to ensure that all Standards Committees adopt good practice and that 

standards issues are considered regularly (at least annually) by all Council 

members. 

o a requirement for Community Councils to publish and keep under review a 

training plan for its members and officers.  It is anticipated that such plans would 

include provision of training on the Code of Conduct at appropriate intervals. 

4.4.4 There is seen to be a need for initial training of members of Standards Committee 

members, not only on the Model Code of Conduct but also on how to hold Hearings to 

ensure openness and fairness to the member complained of, to the complainant and to 

any witnesses. The initial training should be refreshed immediately prior to a case being 

heard as well. 

4.4.5 There is an established Forum for Independent Chairs of Standards Committees in north 

and mid Wales. I attended a meeting of this Forum and had a very useful exchange with 

the Chairs and Monitoring Officers who attended. Although a Forum for the Chairs of 

Standards Committees in South Wales no doubt would serve a similar purpose in the 

facilitation of exchange of information and experiences about the work of Standards 

Committees in that part of Wales, I suggest that there should be an all-Wales Forum and 

that the re-establishment of the annual Conference for Independent Chairs and 

Independent members of Standards Committees across Wales that took place until 

recently would encourage consistency of approach and the adoption of best practice 

across Wales.  

Tudalen 65



34  

4.4.6 The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales accepts that there is a need for more 

references back to Standards Committees when he declines to investigate complaints, 

and that although the technicalities of how references back are managed needs careful 

consideration he does not believe this to be complicated.  The Ombudsman considers 

that this informal arrangement would not require any legislative change as far as his 

powers are concerned but that Standards Committees would need to have additional 

powers to require necessary training of members and the power to require a member to 

make an apology to the complainant. His clear view is that the power for the Standards 

Committee to impose training or to require an apology to be made would be helpful to 

‘nip things in the bud’ at a local level. 

 

4.4.7 I was asked as part of my review to consider whether the establishment of sub-

committees of Standards Committees dedicated to Community Council issues has had 

any impact on the process of supporting Community Councils and dealing with 

complaints. From my audit of Standards Committees it seems that only one County 

Council in Wales has established such a subcommittee of its Standards Committee and 

as that County Council has 128 Community Councils in its area this is seen to be a 

practical way of managing the situation.  

 

4.5      Community Councils  

 

4.5.1  There is agreement by all those that I met in the course of the review that local resolution 

combined with the mandatory training of all members has the potential to provide a 

means for resolving many issues locally before they get out of hand, and to prevent low-

level complaints and ‘grumbles’ about fellow members  turning into formal complaints to 

the Ombudsman that he either has to deal with or refer back for local consideration 

Ultimately, however, the success of any approach relies on the co-operation and actions 

of individual members and the Code of Conduct regime must remain in place to deal with 

instances of serious misconduct. 

 
4.5.2 Many of those I have spoken with expressed serious concern about the extent of 

bullying, lack of respect or otherwise generally disruptive behaviour by some members at 

meetings of Community Councils. In particular, conduct perceived as bullying or 

harassment in the past has had an adverse impact on the ability of some Councils to 

retain members and Council officers. Less serious, but nonetheless disruptive behaviour 

by members, which falls short of a failure to comply with the Code, can also frustrate the 

effective conduct of Council business. The Public Services Ombudsman takes seriously 

any allegation that a member has bullied or harassed another member or officer and his 

guidance on this makes it clear that members must show other members and officers the 

same courtesy and consideration that they show others in their daily lives. In seeking to 

reduce the incidence of bullying or otherwise inappropriate behaviour, with the 

assistance of Monitoring Officers, the Ombudsman has engaged with a number of 

Community Councils that have given rise to a disproportionate number of complaints in 

the past. His approach is that bullying and harassment, or lack of respect will simply not 

be tolerated. Guidance being prepared by One Voice Wales and the Society of Local 

Council Clerks aims to help Councils in avoiding or tackling bullying, harassment and 

Tudalen 66



35  

inappropriate behaviour, including advice on formulating an effective complaint. This 

guidance for members of Community Councils emphasises the need for effective 

relations between members and officers, within a culture of mutual respect and 

consideration.  

 

4.6 Local resolution of complaints 

 

4.6.1 The aim of local resolution is to resolve matters at an early stage so as to avoid the 

unnecessary escalation of the situation which may damage personal relationships within 

the authority and the authority’s reputation. The process may result in an apology being 

made by the member concerned. However, where a member has repeatedly breached 

their authority’s local protocol then the Ombudsman expects the Monitoring Officer to 

refer the matter back to him, and if he sees a pattern of similar complaints being made by 

the same members he considers this to be a serious matter and decide whether the 

persistent reporting of such complaints is conduct which in itself should be investigated 

as a potential breach of the Code. 

  

4.6.2 Most principal Councils in Wales have adopted local resolution procedures to deal with 

low level complaints which are made by a member against a fellow member. These 

arrangements are proving to be effective at resolving many of these kinds of complaints, 

and there is a small number of Community Councils (around 70 of the 735 Town and 

Community Councils in Wales) that have adopted a similar procedure using the Model 

Local Resolution procedure developed for their use by One Voice Wales and the Public 

Services Ombudsman. This provides guidance relevant to Town and Community 

Councils in formulating and operating such protocols. Typically these complaints will be 

about alleged failures to show respect and consideration for others as required by 

paragraph 4(b) of the Code or the duty not to make vexatious, malicious or frivolous 

complaints against other members under paragraph 6(1)(d) of the Code. Whilst a 

member may still complain directly to the Public Services Ombudsman about a fellow 

member, if the matter being complained about concerns paragraphs 4(b) and 6(1)(d), he 

is likely to refer the matter back to the principal council’s Monitoring Officer for 

consideration under this process. It is generally accepted that such complaints are more 

appropriately resolved informally and locally in order to speed up the complaints process 

and to ensure that the Ombudsman’s resources are devoted to the investigation of 

serious complaints. 

 

4.7      The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 

4.7.1  Section 68 of the 2000 Act empowers the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales   to 

issue guidance to relevant authorities on matters relating to the conduct of members 

and co-opted members of those authorities. The Ombudsman has issued two sets of 

guidance under these powers to assist members in understanding their obligations 

under the Code of Conduct. Both sets of guidance are fundamentally the same in 

respect of the interpretation of the Code, but one version is tailored specifically to the 

context within which Town and Community Councillors operate. Guidance issued under 

these powers, most recently in 2016, is subject to periodic review in light of the 

Tudalen 67



36  

operation of the Code, emerging case-law and changes to the Code itself. The current 

guidance has been reviewed and updated primarily to include more recent decisions of 

Standards Committees and the Adjudication Panel for Wales. The opportunity has also 

been taken to clarify and, in some cases, strengthen the wording of the guidance, for 

example, in relation to bullying and harassment of fellow members and officers and the 

disclosure of interests. 

 

4.7.2 Section 69 of the 2000 Act empowers the Public Services Ombudsman to investigate 

allegations by any person that a member has failed to comply with their relevant 

authority’s Code of Conduct. The Ombudsman may also investigate potential breaches 

of the Code that have come to the Ombudsman’s attention during the course of an 

investigation. The Ombudsman has regard to the content of his guidance on the Code 

when exercising these powers. The guidance may also be taken into account by 

Standards Committees and the Adjudication Panel for Wales when exercising their 

respective functions. 

 

4.7.3 The two-stage Public Interest Test 

 

The Ombudsman has wide discretion under the 2000 Act to determine whether it is 

appropriate to investigate a complaint made to his office. All too often, it has been 

necessary for the Ombudsman and his predecessors to express concern about the 

number of low-level, tit-for-tat complaints by members which border on frivolity, or which 

are motivated by political rivalry or personality clashes, rather than true Code of 

Conduct issues. The two-stage test was first introduced in 2015 and is kept under 

review. The purpose of the test is to provide greater clarity, and a degree of certainty 

and consistency, in the exercise of the Ombudsman’s discretion as to whether an 

investigation is in the public interest. This ensures that finite resources are targeted 

towards the more serious allegations received by the Ombudsman. Often, cases are 

not taken forward because they fail to satisfy the first stage test due to a lack of direct 

evidence that a breach may have taken place. This has been a particular feature of 

complaints received about members of Town and Community Councils. The 

Ombudsman has continued to work with One Voice Wales and the Society of Local 

Council Clerks on the development of guidance being prepared by them on how to 

formulate an effective complaint. The Ombudsman considers that the involvement of 

Standards Committees in applying the two-stage test is impractical, not least as it may 

be perceived as prejudicing the later consideration of any report of a subsequent 

investigation that has been referred back to a Committee. It would probably also require 

primary legislation to make this a function of a Standards Committee or some other 

person or body. The Ombudsman has powers under section 70 of the 2000 Act to refer 

complaints for local investigation by Monitoring Officers. However, Monitoring Officers 

raised concerns about the exercise of these powers due to the lack of available 

resources to undertake local investigations effectively. There is also a reluctance on the 

part of Monitoring Officers to be involved in the investigation of complaints against 

members of their own authorities for understandable reasons. 

 

 

Tudalen 68



37  

4.7.4 A number of consultees expressed concern that the Ombudsman handled complaints 

through desk exercises with no detailed investigation being undertaken, and the validity 

of the two-stage test was also questioned. The first stage of the test was considered to 

be objective and based on reasonably clear criteria. However, the second stage ‘public 

interest’ test was considered to be subjective and based mainly on the Ombudsman’s 

opinion. It was suggested that the ‘public interest’ test should be applied by a wider 

‘audience’ appointed for the purpose, such as the Standards Committee of the principal 

council for the area. There was also concern that the low number of referrals to 

Standards Committees as a proportion of the complaints received by the Ombudsman 

had an adverse impact on the ability of Standards Committees to maintain public 

confidence in elected members, that complainants felt their concerns were not being 

taken seriously and that on occasion the member complained about felt exonerated and 

free to continue with the conduct that had been the subject of the complaint. The 

exercise of the Ombudsman’s discretion more towards referral than at present would be 

welcome. 

4.7.5 There is a concern that the investigations undertaken by the Ombudsman take too long, 

linked to a concern that the power to suspend the member concerned whilst the 

investigation is being carried out is not being exercised by the Adjudication Panel for 

Wales though a referral by the Ombudsman. This can mean that a member facing 

serious allegations of a criminal nature may still be able to act as a Councillor with 

potential implications for the safeguarding of members of the public, other Councilors and 

employees of the local authority. The Ombudsman responded to the concerns about the 

length of some investigations by pointing to the unavoidable delays resulting from the 

unavailability of witnesses and the need to gather evidence that had not been included 

as part of the initial complaint. He also reiterated his concern that too much of his 

organisation’s time and limited resources is spent filtering complaints – over 400 in 

2020/21 – the vast majority of which do not warrant investigation. 

 

4.8 The Adjudication Panel for Wales 

 

4.8.1 The President of the Adjudication Panel for Wales has made a number of proposals for 

amendment both to the policies and the practices that apply to the Panel. The Panel is a 

creature of statute created by the Local Government Act 2000 but since devolution the 

underpinning of the Panel’s powers and processes result from a mixture of the LGA 2000 

and a variety of Welsh Regulations, particularly The Adjudications by Case Tribunals and 

Interim Case Tribunals (Wales) Regulations 2001 and The Local Government 

Investigations (Functions of Monitoring Officers and Standards Committees)(Wales) 

Regulations 2001 (both amended). The Regulations were drafted by the Welsh 

Government, and it would be for Welsh Government to deliver any policy amendments. 

In addition, ‘practice directions’ need the approval of the First Minister and while it is for 

the President of the Panel to set out new procedures or changes for Appeal Tribunals, 

the First Minister must agree any changes. Presidential Guidance is a matter for 

President but it is not legally binding. 

 

 

4.8.2 Restricted reporting orders 

Tudalen 69



38  

 

The Panel does not have the ability to control in any way the reporting by the press about 

any case, although the law about reporting of sexual offences applies automatically (this 

has been ignored by the press unless criminal proceedings have been taken, despite 

reminders by the Panel at Hearings).  The Public Services Ombudsman has reported 

that without an express legislative power enabling it to make such restricted reporting 

orders, some complainants have been unwilling to give statements or to make 

complaints, and there have been instances of third parties who were not even witnesses 

becoming the focus of press reporting and social media commentary. It has led to the 

Panel attempting to deal with the problem through using its power to control its 

proceedings to impose anonymity for certain witnesses or third parties. This has not been 

comfortable as there is no express power to anonymise (the APW has used the 

European Convention of Human Rights to do this, which is consistent with the approach 

of Employment Tribunals before the legislation was changed to expressly permit such 

orders), and is not binding on anyone other than the parties or witnesses who appear 

before it. In addition, given the nature of the Panel’s work and the inevitable interference 

with local democracy that can result from the imposition of sanctions, it would be better to 

be able to allow more openness about witnesses and to impose a Restricted Reporting 

Order. The Panel President considers that the powers available to an Employment 

Tribunal - an Employment Tribunal can impose a Restricted Reporting Order either until 

the end of proceedings or an extended Restricted Reporting Order that can be in place 

forever - would be appropriate for all Panel Tribunals and could be introduced either 

through legislation for all Welsh tribunals following the recent Law Commission Report or 

specifically for the Adjudication Panel for Wales.  

 

4.8.3 Anonymity of witnesses 

 

This is closely related to the issue of Restricted Reporting Orders. The Public Services 

Ombudsman has asked for a consistent approach to the anonymity of witnesses so his 

staff know the position when preparing reports and explaining the process to witnesses. 

The President considers it appropriate to issue presidential guidance to ensure 

consistency and transparency and will do so shortly, but an express power to anonymise 

would be useful for both Case and Appeal Tribunals to ensure that there is legal 

underpinning for such a step. It is in the President’s remit to add this power for Appeal 

Tribunals, but fresh legislation would be required for Case Tribunals.  

 

4.8.4 Disclosure   

 

There is an issue about the disclosure of the unused material held by the Public Services 

Ombudsman and Monitoring Officers. It has been agreed to amend the Ombudsman’s 

own process in this regard, with Presidential guidance/practice direction on both 

disclosure and the role of the Monitoring Officer generally. This is seen to avoid delay 

with the Panel procedure and allow both the accused member and the Tribunal to obtain 

additional evidence easily. 

 

 

Tudalen 70



39  

4.8.5 Appeal Tribunal procedure  

 

The Panel President intends to to ask the First Minister, through the President of Welsh 

Tribunals, to approve amendments to the Appeal Tribunal procedure.  Service should be 

by first class post with deemed service rules in place and Panel should be given the 

express ability to anonymise witnesses. There is a grey area on the subject of witness 

summons – Case Tribunals expressly have the power to do this through the relevant 

Regulations but the Regulations for Appeal Tribunals say that the Panel President 

determines this with the consent of the First Minister. The current Regulations also 

require the Standards Committee to consider the Panel decision on the Appeal if it is 

different to the original decision. This is unpopular with Standards Committees as they 

feel bound by the Panel decision if only to avoid further appeals. Despite this, the 

President is comfortable with the current position as it means the Standards Committee 

remains responsible and can reflect its response to the Panel decision in the sanction it 

decides to impose.  

 

4.8.6 Case Tribunal procedure 

 

The Panel President considers that the Regulations are outdated in several respects. 

Service should be by first class post with deemed service rules in place, the ability to 

anonymise witnesses is required, and there is a Regulation that says Hearings can only 

be postponed with seven days notice given to the accused member. The ability to have 

part public and part private hearings is not expressly permitted currently.  

 

4.8.7 Permission to appeal procedure 

 

In 2016 a new process for appeals was introduced, requiring permission to appeal to be 

sought from the President of the Panel. The President considers that this process does 

not work well – it only allows delegation of her power to another legal member if she is 

absent whereas she would prefer to have discretion about delegation, such as when the 

accused member is known to her, it requires her to make a decision within 21 days with 

an extension of time if further information is required but it is not clear from when the new 

deadline applies, and does not give the Public Services Ombudsman any opportunity to 

make submissions to the Panel.  A Hearing is possible if there are special circumstances, 

but no extension of time is given to effectively allow this. The President proposes minor 

amendments to make the process more balanced and sensible.  

 

4.8.8 Sentencing powers  

 

Currently the powers available to the Panel when it determines that a member or co-

opted member has failed to comply with the Code are:  

o to disqualify the respondent from being, or becoming, a member of the relevant 

authority concerned or any other relevant authority for a period of up to five years 

o to suspend or partially suspend the respondent from being a member or co-opted 

member of the relevant authority concerned for up to 12 months, or  

Tudalen 71



40  

o to take no action in respect of the breach. In such cases the Panel may deem it 

appropriate to warn the member as to their future conduct. Where such a warning 

has been recorded it is likely to be taken into account during any future hearing 

where the member is found again to have failed to follow the provisions of the 

Code.  

Monitoring Officers have confirmed that they would like the Panel to have the ability to 

impose more varied sanctions as was the case with the former Adjudication Panel for 

England.  

 

4.8.9 Interim Case Tribunals  

 

The Public Services Ombudsman has the power under s72 of the LGA 2000 to make 

interim referrals to the Adjudication Panel for Wales if it is in the public interest and where 

there is prima facie evidence that the person has failed to comply with the Code of 

Conduct, the nature of which is likely to lead to disqualification. Both the Ombudsman 

and the Panel President consider that the threshold for meeting the legislative 

requirements for an interim referral to the Panel is too high.  This view is shared by many 

of the Monitoring Officers and others that I have met, but any change to these powers 

would require primary legislation by the Welsh Government. The fact is that the 

Ombudsman has never applied for such a Hearing. The process is lengthy and the LGA 

2000 does not explain sufficiently what is required to deal with such hearings. The 

intention in the Act appears to be to allow an accused member to be suspended for six 

months (it is unclear whether this is one term of suspension or if it can be renewed on 

application) while the Ombudsman investigates if that Councillor through their role was 

interfering with the investigation or if for some other reason it was necessary to suspend 

on an interim basis. The issue has arisen several times where Councillors are being 

prosecuted for historic sex offences and there is a strong feeling from Monitoring Officers 

and Standards Committees that it is inappropriate to continue to remunerate a Councillor 

who is facing such charges, and that his or her continued activities as a Councillor could 

endanger members of the public, other Councilors of members of staff. A member who is 

charged with criminal offences is innocent until proven guilty, and in order for the 

Ombudsman to make an interim referral there would need to be strong evidence that it is 

in the public interest for a suspension to be imposed, particularly if the offences are 

historical. This could be met if, for example, there is evidence that the member 

represents a risk to the public at large or to a particular group in the locality. A neutral act 

of suspension akin to the practice in employment matters pending hearings taking place 

would provide some assurance to the public and to local authorities on the risk that the 

member concerned could reoffend or misuse their position/standing in the local 

community whilst being investigated or awaiting criminal trial. In addition, an Interim Case 

Tribunal would follow the same process as a full Case Tribunal, which means it would 

take at least three months to have a Hearing, and the Hearing would require a full Panel 

which would then present difficulties in constituting a new Panel for the final Hearing. 

There is no assistance in the legislation about how to manage such Hearings and ‘public 

interest’ is not defined. The proposal is that the whole process should be simplified by 

applying a test similar to that used by the Regulatory Tribunals such as the Medical 

Practitioners’ Tribunal. The Hearing would be by a legal member sitting alone but with 

Tudalen 72



41  

the ability to invite oral submission from the parties in the interests of justice. The Public 

Services Ombudsman would submit a referral to the President of the Panel with a report 

setting out the background and why an interim suspension was being sought. At the 

most, only six months suspension (partial or full) would be possible, and could be 

renewed up to three times in total (18 months in total). The accused member would be 

given an opportunity to submit why the interim suspension should not be made, but there 

would be no evidence called and the Ombudsman’s report would be taken at face value 

in the same way that the GMC’s report is taken at face value at the Medical Practitioners’ 

Tribunal. The test to be applied would be: 

 

 ‘Where it appears to the Interim Case Tribunal that: 

 

a) if the matters outlined by the Ombudsman in the interim report are found 

by a Case Tribunal at a final hearing and would be likely to be found to 

constitute a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct of the relevant 

authority concerned; 

 

b) and that the nature of that failure is such as to be likely to lead to 

disqualification under section 79(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 2000; 

 

and 

 

c) and that it is in the public interest to suspend or partially suspend the 

accused member immediately for the protection of members of the public, 

to maintain public confidence in local government, to uphold proper 

standards of conduct and behaviour, or to enable the completion of the 

Ombudsman’s investigation.’ 

 

This would be a relatively minor amendment to the current public interest test, but would 

make the approach to be adopted and the definition of public interest much clearer. It 

would require new legislation by the Welsh Government.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5     Conclusions and recommendations 

 

5.1 I welcomed the opportunity to lead this review and to collect the widest possible evidence 

Tudalen 73



42  

from those involved in the operation of the ethical standards framework about strengths 

and weakness of the current framework, how it might be improved and how the 

requirements of the recent legislation as it relates to ethical standards will be managed. 

The key question for all those I met with was - how can ethical standards in local 

government in Wales be enhanced, and on a practical point how can the number of 

complaints be reduced? 

 

5.2    It was seen to be essential to ensure the local government family in Wales was fully 

involved in the review and informed the outcome. This involvement needed to be 

demonstrated as part of the outcome of this work. I have met with many of those 

individuals and representatives of organization most involved in delivering the ethical 

standards framework in Wales, and this report, its findings and its recommendations are 

largely based on the views and experience of those individuals and organisations. 

 

5.3  The first phase of the review involved engagement with those individuals and 

representatives of organisations to establish views about the process and operation of 

the framework including details of where the framework works well and whether there are 

areas which could be improved. The outcome of this first phase builds on the positive 

elements of the framework while strengthening those areas where it is considered 

improvements could be made. Options to bring the requirements of the Register of 

Interests provisions in the Model Code of Conduct Order in line with the policy of the Act 

to stop Councillors’ addresses being published have also been considered. 

 

5.4     The following were required as key components of delivery:  

 

 An audit of the Codes of Conduct adopted by all the required authorities 

against the Model Code to identify any local variances 

 

 An analysis of the effectiveness of the framework in fostering high standards 

of conduct in local government in Wales and public confidence in those 

arrangements 

 

 Consideration of whether the framework is still fit for purpose, including 

whether the ten principles of conduct are still relevant and whether the Model 

Code of Conduct needs updating. This will include identification of areas 

where improvements could/should be made to the current arrangements.  

 

 Consideration of the role of Standards Committees, including their role in 

relation to Town and Community Councils and whether the establishment of 

sub-committees has had any impact on the process of supporting Community 

Councils and dealing with complaints.  

 

 An analysis of the arrangements and protocols in place within authorities to 

support members and staff in preventing the need for issues to a) arise in the 

first place and b) be escalated beyond local resolution. This will include areas 

such as clear communication and signposting, training and awareness and the 

Tudalen 74



43  

approach to addressing concerns. 

  

 Consideration of the current sanctions and whether they are still appropriate  

 

5.5 This first stage of the review has covered each of these issues and my findings and 

recommendations for change below relate to the key components of delivery: 

 

5.5.1 An audit of the Codes of Conduct adopted by all the required authorities against 

the Model Code to identify any local variances 

 

I conducted an audit of the Codes of Conduct adopted by all the required authorities 

against the Model Code of Conduct to identify any local variances and to consider 

whether the ten principles of conduct are still relevant and whether the Model Code of 

Conduct needs updating. This included identification of areas where improvements 

could/should be made. The Monitoring Officers of all principal councils, National Parks 

Authorities and Fire and Rescue Authorities responded to my request for information 

about the Code of Conduct that had been adopted by their Authority and with only one 

exception (a county Council) the response was that the Model Code of Conduct had 

been  adopted without significant variations or additions. However, a number of local 

authorities (over one half) have also adopted a local resolution procedure or protocol 

supplementary to the Model Code and over one half also have a mandatory training 

requirement again not as part of the Code itself but supplementary to it. In other 

authorities this is an expectation rather than being mandatory. 

 

5.5.2 An analysis of the effectiveness of the framework in fostering high standards of 

conduct in local government in Wales and public confidence in those 

arrangements 

 

All of those I met as part of this review consider that the ethical standards framework that 

applies in Wales is far superior to that currently used in English local government partly 

because unlike in England, the Code of Conduct applies both when a Councillor is acting 

in their official capacity and when a Councillor behaves in a way that could be regarded 

as bringing their office or their authority into disrepute, and partly because the separation 

of roles and responsibilities as described earlier in the Welsh framework provides a 

degree of genuine independence in the way that complaints are assessed and 

investigated. The framework generally, and the requirements of the Code of Conduct in 

particular, has been instrumental in fostering the high standards of conduct that are 

evident in local government in Wales. 

 

However, there are concerns by the Public Services Ombudsman and Monitoring 

Officers about the continuing and recently increasing volume of complaints about the 

conduct of members of Community Councils. Adjustments and amendments to the 

current framework requiring mandatory training on the Code of Conduct for all members 

and the greater use of local resolution procedures should result in the number of the 

mostly low level complaints that are made and the need for formal investigations that are 

required into allegations that there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct being 

Tudalen 75



44  

significantly reduced, and this would result in the already high ethical standards in Welsh 

local government being  further enhanced. 

 

5.5.3  Consideration of whether the framework is still fit for purpose, including whether 

the ten principles of conduct are still relevant and whether the Model Code of 

Conduct needs updating. This will include identification of areas where 

improvements could/should be made to the current arrangements.  

 

The consensus is that the current framework is fit for purpose, works well in practice and 

a number of those that I consulted proposed that ‘if it ain’t broke don’t fix it’. The ten 

principles of conduct are seen as relevant and the Model Code of Conduct is seen as 

generally appropriate - and superior to the Code of Conduct used in English local 

government - and not in need of major revision.  

  

However, I have proposed a number of amendments to the Model Code of Conduct in 

respect of:  

 

o Paragraph 17 of the Model Code that requires members, within 28 days of 

receiving any gift, hospitality, material benefit or advantage above a value 

specified in a resolution of their authority, provide written notification to the 

authority's Monitoring Officer, or in relation to a Community Council, to your 

authority’s proper officer of the existence and nature of that gift, hospitality, 

material benefit or advantage. The Code does not specify any threshold for 

such declarations and a number of authorities have specified a threshold 

beyond which there must be a declaration. The threshold should be specified in 

the Code to ensure consistency across Wales. 

 

o The law requiring the publication of the home addresses of Councillors has 

changed recently so Councils no longer do this.  However, members are 

required to include their home address in their Council’s Register of Interests. 

There is agreement that the Code of Conduct should not require Councillors to 

disclose their home address, and it is proposed that Paragraph 10.2.(vi) of the 

Model Code of Conduct should be amended to read: 

 

‘any land (other than the principal residence) in which you have a beneficial 

interest and which is in the area of your authority’ 

 

o A ‘person’ is not defined either in the 2000 Local Government Act or in the 

Model Code of Conduct so the Public Services Ombudsman has had to rely in 

conducting his investigations on the definition in the Interpretation Act 1978 

which is ‘a body of persons corporate or unincorporate’. This has caused 

problems, and it is considered that a clear definition of what is meant by a 

‘person’ on the face of the legislation or in the Model Code would be beneficial. 

 

o There is concern that the provision in Paragraph 4a of the Model Code of 

Conduct which requires that a member must: 

Tudalen 76



45  

 

‘carry out your duties and responsibilities with due regard to the principle that 

there should be equality of opportunity for all people, regardless of their 

gender, race, disability, sexual orientation, age or religion’ 

 

does not include all protected characteristics. This provision should be 

extended to include all nine protected characteristics under the Equality Act 

2010 – race, religion or belief, age, disability, sex (gender), sexual orientation, 

gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity. 

 

o The potential for breaches of the Code of Conduct as a result of the extensive 

and increasing use being made by elected members of a range of social media 

is a matter of concern. The helpful guidance on the use of social media by the 

WLGA and the Public Services Ombudsman should be formalised by 

appropriate amendments to the Model Code of Conduct. 

 

o  6(1)(b) of the Code of Conduct places the obligation on elected members to 

report the criminal behaviour of others but not of themselves. In practice, most 

members have self-reported to the Public Services Ombudsman for possible 

breaches of the Code as a result of criminal conduct. However, there have been 

cases where this has not happened and the Code of Conduct should be 

appropriately amended to make this an obligation of the member to themselves 

report on their own criminal conduct. 

 

In addition to these proposed amendments to the Model Code of Conduct there are a 

number of other recommendations in respect of the current ethical standards framework 

in Wales: 

 

 Mandatory training on the Code of Conduct for all members of principal 

councils and community councils 

 

Every individual or organizational representative that I met proposed that initial 

training for all Councillors on the requirements of the Code of Conduct adopted 

by their authority should be mandatory, and that this initial training should be 

regularly ‘refreshed’.  The simplest way to achieve universal mandatory training 

would be to include a commitment to undertake the necessary training in the 

Declaration of Acceptance of Office that all elected members in Wales are 

required to sign under The Local Elections (Declaration of Acceptance of Office) 

(Wales) Order 2004 before they can act as a Councillor, in the same way that 

they are currently required to undertake to observe the Code of Conduct 

adopted by their authority. It may require legislation to amend the 2004 Order 

appropriately. The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 includes 

a requirement for Community Councils to publish and keep under review a 

training plan for its members and officers.  It is anticipated that such plans 

would include training on the Code of Conduct at appropriate intervals. If initial 

and refresher training on the Code is made mandatory for all councillors there 

Tudalen 77



46  

will need to be consideration of how that training can be resourced and 

delivered. 

 

 Increased use of local resolution of complaints 

 

Most principal Councils in Wales have adopted local resolution procedures to 

deal with low level complaints which are made by a member against a fellow 

member. These arrangements are proving to be effective at resolving many of 

these kinds of complaints, and there is a small number of Community Councils 

(around 70 of the 735 Town and Community Councils in Wales) that have 

adopted a similar procedure using the Model Local Resolution procedure 

developed for their use by One Voice Wales and the Public Services 

Ombudsman. Members may still complain directly to the Public Services 

Ombudsman about a fellow member, if the matter being complained about 

concerns paragraphs 4(b) and 6(1)(d), he is likely to refer the matter back to the 

principal authority’s Monitoring Officer for consideration under this process. It is 

generally accepted that such complaints are more appropriately resolved 

informally and locally in order to speed up the complaints process and to ensure 

that the Ombudsman’s resources are devoted to the investigation of serious 

complaints. Consideration should be given to whether the Model Code of 

Conduct should be appropriately amended to require that any complaint should 

be considered for local resolution before it can be referred subsequently to the 

Public Services Ombudsman. The consensus is that combined with mandatory 

training on the Code of Conduct for all Councillors this would speed up the 

complaints process and to ensure that the Ombudsman’s resources are 

devoted to the investigation of serious complaints.  

 

 Extended powers for the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 

 

There is concern that the low number of referrals to Standards Committees as a 

proportion of the complaints received by the Ombudsman has had an adverse 

impact on the ability of Standards Committees to maintain public confidence in 

elected members, that complainants felt their concerns were not being taken 

seriously and that on occasion the member complained about felt exonerated 

and free to continue with the conduct that had been the subject of the 

complaint. Greater use of the Ombudsman’s discretion for referral than is the 

case at present would be welcomed by Monitoring Officers and Chairs of 

Standards Committees. The Ombudsman is sympathetic to the view expressed 

by some of those I spoke with that his investigations take too much time and 

that too often quite serious complaints are simply not dealt with. He has 

expressed his concern that too much of his organisation’s time is spent filtering 

complaints – over 400 in 2020/21 – the vast majority of which do not warrant 

investigation. In the Ombudsman’s view local resolution of many of these low-

level complaints is the key to making his work more focused and efficient, and 

the extension of his power to refer complaints back for local resolution would be 

a beneficial change to the current framework. 

Tudalen 78



47  

 

 Changes to the powers and processes of the Adjudication Panel for Wales  

 

The President of the Adjudication Panel for Wales has made a number of 

proposals for amendment both to the policies and the processes that apply to 

the work Panel.  

 

 Restricted reporting orders 

 

The Panel does not have the ability to control in any way the reporting by 

the press about any case, although the law about reporting of sexual 

offences applies automatically. The Public Services Ombudsman has 

reported that without an express legislative power enabling it to make 

such restricted reporting orders, some complainants have been unwilling 

to give statements or to make complaints, and there have been instances 

of third parties who were not even witnesses becoming the focus of press 

reporting and social media commentary. The Panel President considers 

that the powers available to an Employment Tribunal - an Employment 

Tribunal can impose a Restricted Reporting Order either until the end of 

proceedings or an extended Restricted Reporting Order that can be in 

place forever - would be appropriate for all Panel Tribunals and could be 

introduced either through legislation for all Welsh tribunals following the 

recent Law Commission Report or specifically for the Adjudication Panel 

for Wales.  

 

 Anonymity of witnesses 

 

This is closely related to the issue of Restricted Reporting Orders. The 

Public Services Ombudsman has asked for a consistent approach to the 

anonymity of witnesses so his staff know the position when preparing 

reports and explaining the process to witnesses. The President considers 

it appropriate to issue presidential guidance to ensure consistency and 

transparency and will do so shortly, but an express power to anonymise 

would be useful for both Case and Appeal Tribunals to ensure that there is 

legal underpinning for such a step. It is in the President’s remit to add this 

power for Appeal Tribunals, but fresh legislation would be required for 

Case Tribunals. 

 

 Disclosure   

 

There is an issue about the disclosure of the unused material held by the 

Public Services Ombudsman and Monitoring Officers. It has been agreed 

to amend the Ombudsman’s own process in this regard, with Presidential 

guidance/practice direction on both disclosure and the role of the 

Monitoring Officer generally.  

 

Tudalen 79



48  

 Appeal Tribunal procedure  

 

The Panel President intends to ask the First Minister, through the 

President of Welsh Tribunals, to approve amendments to the Appeal 

Tribunal procedure. The current Regulations also require the Standards 

Committee to consider the Panel decision on the Appeal if it is different to 

the original decision. This is unpopular with Standards Committees as 

they feel bound by the Panel decision if only to avoid further appeals. 

Despite this, the President is comfortable with the current position as it 

means the Standards Committee remains responsible and can reflect its 

response to the Panel decision in the sanction it decides to impose.  

 

 Case Tribunal procedure 

 

The Panel President considers that the Regulations are outdated and has 

proposed a number of amendments to make the Case Tribunal Procedure 

more efficient and fairer to witnesses.  

 

 Permission to appeal procedure 

 

In 2016 a new process for appeals was introduced, requiring permission to 

appeal to be sought from the President of the Panel. The President 

considers that this process does not work well and proposes minor 

amendments to make the process more balanced and sensible.  

 

 Sentencing powers  

 

Currently the powers available to the Panel when it determines that a 

member or co-opted member has failed to comply with the Code are 

limited and the President would like the Panel to have the ability to impose 

more varied sanctions as was the case with the former Adjudication Panel 

for England. The Public Services Ombudsman and Monitoring Officers 

have confirmed their support for this. 

 

 Interim Case Tribunals  

 

The Public Services Ombudsman has the power under s72 of the LGA 

2000 to make interim referrals to the Adjudication Panel for Wales if it is in 

the public interest and where there is prima facie evidence that the person 

has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct, the nature of which is likely 

to lead to disqualification. Both the Ombudsman and the Panel President 

consider that the threshold for meeting the legislative requirements for an 

interim referral to the Panel is too high, and this view is shared by many of 

the Monitoring Officers and others that I have met, but any change to 

these powers would require primary legislation by the Welsh Government. 

The proposal is that the whole process should be simplified by applying a 

Tudalen 80



49  

test similar to that used by the Regulatory Tribunals such as the Medical 

Practitioners’ Tribunal. The Hearing would be by a legal member sitting 

alone but with the ability to invite oral submission from the parties in the 

interests of justice. The Public Services Ombudsman would submit a 

referral to the President of the Panel with a report setting out the 

background and why an interim suspension was being sought. At the 

most, only six months suspension (partial or full) would be possible, and 

could be renewed up to three times in total (18 months in total). The 

accused member would be given an opportunity to submit why the interim 

suspension should not be made, but there would be no evidence called 

and the Ombudsman’s report would be taken at face value in the same 

way that the GMC’s report is taken at face value at the Medical 

Practitioners’ Tribunal. The test to be applied would be: 

 

    ‘Where it appears to the Interim Case Tribunal that: 

 

a. if the matters outlined by the Ombudsman in the interim report 

are found by a Case Tribunal at a final hearing and would be 

likely to be found to constitute a failure to comply with the Code 

of Conduct of the relevant authority concerned; 

 

b. and that the nature of that failure is such as to be likely to lead to 

disqualification under section 79(4)(b) of the Local Government 

Act 2000; 

 

and 

 

c. and that it is in the public interest to suspend or partially suspend 

the accused member immediately for the protection of members 

of the public, to maintain public confidence in local government, 

to uphold proper standards of conduct and behaviour, or to 

enable the completion of the Ombudsman’s investigation.’ 

 

This would be a relatively minor amendment to the current public interest 

test, but would make the approach to be adopted and the definition of 

public interest much clearer. It would require new legislation by the Welsh 

Government.  

 

5.5.4 Consideration of the role of Standards Committees, including their role in relation 

to Town and Community Councils and whether the establishment of sub-

committees has had any impact on the process of supporting Community 

Councils and dealing with complaints. 

 

I was struck by the variation in the way that Standards Committees in Wales see their 

remit and at the different roles played by the Independent Chairs of Standards 

Committees. At the one extreme Standards Committees and their Independent Chairs 

Tudalen 81



50  

seem to have either been given or have adopted a very limited role, meeting infrequently 

and only really active when there is a Hearing of a case referred by the Public Services 

Ombudsman for Wales. At the other extreme there are Standards Committees and 

Chairs that see their remit much wider than this, and as leading the development and 

maintenance of the ethical standards framework in that local authority. In particular these 

Standards Committees and Chairs, along with the Monitoring Officer, act as a primary 

source of advice, support and guidance to the Town and Community Councils in their 

area. There is a need for consistency of approach and for the remit of the Standards 

Committee to be generally similar across Wales, but accepting that ‘one size does not fit 

all’ and that there is a need for the local Standards Committee to reflect the specifics of 

the situation for the principal council concerned. The Chair of the Standards Committee 

should play a leadership role, along with the Chief Executive, the Monitoring Officer and 

the Leaders of political groups in promoting high standards of conduct across the 

Council. 

 

The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 includes a number of provisions 

that will have implications for the work of Standards Committees which will be expected 

to support the political leadership of the Council in maintaining high standards of conduct 

by the members of their group and to make an annual report to the authority on the 

discharge of its functions, its assessment of standards of conduct within the authority and 

any recommendations for improving standards. 

   

There is a need for training of members of Standards Committee, not only on the Model 

Code of Conduct but also on how to hold Hearings to ensure openness and fairness to 

the member complained of, to the complainant and to any witnesses. 

  

There is an established Forum for Independent Chairs of Standards Committees in north 

and mid Wales. Although a Forum for the Chairs of Standards Committees in South 

Wales no doubt would serve a similar purpose in the facilitation of exchange of 

information and experiences about the work of Standards Committees in that part of 

Wales, I suggest that there should be an all-Wales Forum and the re-establishment of 

the annual Conference for Independent Chairs and Independent members of Standards 

Committees across Wales that took place until recently that would encourage 

consistency of approach and the adoption of best practice across Wales.  

 

The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales accepts that there is a need for more 

reference back to Standards Committees when he declines to investigate complaints, 

and that although the technicalities of how references back are managed needs careful 

consideration he does not believe this to be complicated. The Ombudsman considers 

that this informal arrangement would not require any legislative change as far as his 

powers are concerned but that Standards Committees would need to have additional 

powers to require necessary training of members and the power to require a member to 

make an apology to the complainant. His clear view is that the power for the Standards 

Committee to impose training or to require an apology to be made would be helpful to 

‘nip things in the bud’ at a local level. 

 

Tudalen 82



51  

I reviewed whether the establishment of sub-committees of Standards Committees 

dedicated to Community Council issues has had any impact on the process of supporting 

Community Councils and dealing with complaints. From my audit of Standards 

Committees it seems that only one County Council in Wales has established such a 

subcommittee of the Standards Committee and as that County Council has 128 

Community Councils in its area this is seen to be a practical way of managing the 

situation.  

 

There is serious concern about the extent of bullying, lack of respect or otherwise 

generally disruptive behaviour by some members at meetings of Town and Community 

Councils. The Public Services Ombudsman takes seriously any allegation that a member 

has bullied or harassed another member or officer and his guidance on this makes it 

clear that members must show other members and officers the same courtesy and 

consideration that they show others in their daily lives. In seeking to reduce the incidence 

of bullying or otherwise inappropriate behaviour, with the assistance of Monitoring 

Officers, the Ombudsman has engaged with a number of Town and Community Councils 

that have given rise to a disproportionate number of complaints in the past, and  

guidance prepared by One Voice Wales and the Society of Local Council Clerks aims to 

help Councils in avoiding or tackling bullying, harassment and inappropriate behaviour. 

This is an issue that may be mitigated to some extent by a requirement for mandatory 

training of councillors and greater use of local resolution procedures, but it is a serious 

problem that will continue to need to be monitored and addressed where necessary by 

local Standards Committees and Monitoring Officers  

 

5.5.5 An analysis of the arrangements and protocols in place within authorities to 

support members and staff in preventing the need for issues to a) arise in the first 

place and b) be escalated beyond local resolution. This will include areas such as 

clear communication and signposting, training and awareness and the approach 

to addressing concerns. 

 

The review has been very useful in indicating where there is the need for changes to the 

current arrangements to support members and staff – principally Standards Committees 

and Monitoring Officers – in preventing issues arising and needing being dealt with more 

effectively in a timely way without the need for investigation by the Public Services 

Ombudsman. The recommendations for changes to the current ethical standards 

framework are intended to assist in achieving that objective.  

 

5.5.6 Consideration of the current sanctions and whether they are still appropriate  

 

Where a Standards Committee concludes that a member or co-opted member has failed 

to comply with the relevant Council’s Code of Conduct, it may determine that: 

  

 no action needs to be taken in respect of that failure 

  

 the member or co-opted member should be censured which takes the form of 

a public rebuke 

Tudalen 83



52  

 

or 

 

  the member or co-opted member should be suspended or partially 

suspended from being a member of that authority for a period not exceeding 

six months or if shorter, the remainder of the member’s term of office.  

 

A member subject to a sanction by a Standards Committee may seek the permission of 

the President of the Adjudication Panel for Wales to appeal against the determination. 

 

There was no view expressed during my review that these sanctions available to a 

Standards Committee are not proportionate or appropriate. However, the Public Services 

Ombudsman and Monitoring Officers confirmed their support for the Adjudication Panel 

for Wales having the ability to impose more varied sanctions than is currently the case. 

The proposal is that the sanctions should be similar to those available to the former 

Adjudication Panel for England.  

 

5.5.7 Accessibility of the ethical standards framework 

 

Although this was not an issue raised by any of those that I consulted there is 

nevertheless a concern that the ability of a member of the public to make a legitimate 

complaint about the conduct of an elected member in their area is constrained by the 

lack of publicity about the ethical standards framework and how the complaints 

procedure can be utilised. There is very helpful information and advice on the websites of 

the Public Services Ombudsman, the WLGA and One Voice Wales. However,  based on 

my own experience of searching principal Council websites as well as the Welsh 

Government website for information about the Code of Conduct, or the work of 

Standards Committees or how to complain about the conduct of a councillor, a member 

of the public would have great difficulty in finding helpful information if they wished to 

complain. And of course not every member of the public has internet access, and some 

members of the public have particular difficulty in accessing information because of 

various disabilities, or because they belong to a ‘hard to reach group’ such as the 

traveler community or because of language problems. I have no practical 

recommendation about how this should be addressed but if the ethical standards 

framework is to be genuinely open, transparent and accessible to everyone, and if the 

objective is that the framework should command the confidence of everyone who may 

need to use it, then consideration needs to be given to how to ensure equality of access 

for everyone.  

 

 

 

 

5.6    The second phase of the review will focus on working with partners and stakeholders to 

deliver any changes to the ethical standards framework that are considered appropriate 

and necessary by Welsh Ministers in the light of the findings and recommendations of the 

first phase of the review. 

Tudalen 84



53  

 

Richard Penn 

 

Independent Consultant 

 

July 2021 

 

 

Tudalen 85



54  

 

Tudalen 86



Dr Einir Young
Cadeirydd Pwyllgor Safonau Gwynedd
einiryoung@gmail.com

Safonau – golwg o Wynedd

Standards - a view from Gwynedd

Cynhadledd Safonau Cymru Gyfan

All-Wales Standards Conference

09-02-2022

T
udalen 87



Mae etholwyr yn rhoi gwerth uwch ar ONESTRWYDD yn

eu gwleidyddion uwchlaw pob dim arall:

Voters value HONESTY/INTEGRITY in their politicians

above all else:

C 1. Bod yn onest NEU delifro

polisi?

71% yn dewis onestrwydd

16% delifro polisi

C2. Democratiaeth iach =  

gwleidyddion yn gweithredu o 

fewn y rheolau NEU torri nhw i 

‘wneud i bethau ddigwydd’?

75% yn dewis ‘cadw at y rheolau’

6% yn derbyn torri rheolau

Canlyniad astudiaeth haf 2021

CYN Owen Patterson a Partygate

Q1. Acting honestly OR delivering 

policy?

71% wanted honesty

16% chose delivery

Q2. A healthy democracy = 

politicians acting within the rules or 

breaking them to get things done?

75% selected keeping the rules

6% didn’t mind rule breaking

Result of a study Summer 2021 

BEFORE Patterson & Partygate

T
udalen 88



‘Map gwres’ i adnabod lle mae’r

problemau mwyaf a gofyn pam 

fod problemau.

Adnabod amgylchiadau sy’n

creu problemau

- materion lleol

- personoliaethau

- pobl yn methu derbyn eu bod

yn y lleiafrif

- Gwendidau llywodraethiant

Codi proffil ‘safonnau’ – tu hwnt

i’r sesiynnau hyfforddiant

Creu consensws ar safonau

Create a ‘heat map’ to identify the 

problem hot spots and why they 

occur.

Recognise conditions that allow 

problems to fester:

- Specific local issues

- Personalities

- People who can’t accept that 

their views are in the minority

- Weak governance

Raise the profile of ‘standards’ 

beyond the training sessions

Create a consensus on standards

Pwyntiau trafod/gweithredu Pwyllgor Safonau Gwynedd

Discussion/action points for Gwynedd Standards

Committee

T
udalen 89



Ydi ‘Safonau’ mewn bocs

cyfreithiol/monitro? 

Sut mae dod â ‘safonau’ yn

rhan o’r ‘ffordd ‘da ni’n

gwneud pethau yma’ drwyddi

draw? 

– a phrofi hynny?

Are ‘Standards’ in the 

legal/monitoring silo?

How do we ensure 

‘Standards’ are integral to 

‘the way we do things here’ 

in our Authorities.

- and evidence it?

T
udalen 90



Allwn ni/a ddylem ni fframio 

gwaith Pwyllgor Safonau yng 

nghyd-destun LLESIANT yn 

enwedig y 5 ffordd o weithio?

Can we/should we frame the 

Standards Committe’s work the 

context of WELL-BEING 

especially the 5 ways of 

working?

1.4.5.7.17

T
udalen 91



Safonau a’r PUM ffordd

cynaliadwy o weithio

Standards in relation to the FIVE 

sustainable ways of working

Hirdymor

Atal

Integreiddio

Cynnwys

Cydweithio

Longterm

Prevention

Integration

Involvement

Collaboration

T
udalen 92



1.4.5.7.17

Cyfarch y Saith Nod Llesiant

– Safonau yn berthnasol iddyn nhw i gyd!

Address The Seven Well-being 

Goals 

– Standards are relevant to achieving all of 

the goals.

T
udalen 93



Yr her:

Ar hyn o bryd ‘does dim sôn 

am ‘safonau’ yn y cynllun 

llesiant lleol nac yn y 

canllawiau statudol ar gyfer y 

Ddeddf Llesiant!

The Challenge::

There is no mention of 

‘standards’ in the local well-

being plan nor in the Statutory

guidance!

T
udalen 94



PWYLLGOR SAFONAU - YMA 

I HELPU!

Gweithio gyda chi, nid gweithio i chi 

na drosto chi!

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

HERE TO HELP!

Working with you, not doing things 

to you or for you!

T
udalen 95



Dr Einir Young
Cadeirydd Pwyllgor Safonau Gwynedd
einiryoung@gmail.com

Diolch

Thank You

T
udalen 96



Y CEFNDIR I ADRODDIAD PENN A’R YMATEB IDDO

BACKGROUND AND RESPONSE TO PENN REPORT

Un Llais Cymru CYNHADLEDD SAFONAU 
One Voice Wales STANDARDS CONFERENCE

T
udalen 97



Sut mae Un Llais Cymru yn Cefnogi Cynghorau?

How Does OVW Support Councils?

• Ceisiadau am Gyngor

• Gweithredu Proses Datrysiadau
Lleol

• Model Bolisïau Cefnogi

• Hyfforddiant

• Advice Requests

• Operation of Local Resolution 
Process

• Model Supporting Policies

• Training

T
udalen 98



Ceisiadau am Gyngor
Requests for Advice

• Ceisiadau Rheolaidd

• Mae enghreifftiau’n cynnwys 
camddefnyddio cyfryngau
cymdeithasol, methiant i 
ddatgan buddiannau a bwlïo ac 
aflonyddu gan gynghorwyr
unigol

• 1320 cais am gyngor yn 2021 –
5.4% yn ymwneud a’r Cod 
Ymddygiad

• Frequent Requests

• Examples include misuse of 
social media, failure to declare 
interests and bullying and 
harassment by individual 
councillors

• 1320 requests for advice in 
2021 – 5.4% related to the Code 
of Conduct

T
udalen 99



Model Brotocol ar gyfer Datrysiadau Anffurfiol
Model Informal Resolution Protocol

• Darparwyd i aelod gynghorau
• Gwnaed diwygiad diweddar i 

gynnwys ceisiadau ail-adroddus ar 
lefel isel

• Nid yw’n cael ei ddefnyddio’n aml
nac yn cael ei ddeall gan lawer o 
bobl

• Anaml y gofynnir am gyngor ar ei 
ddefnyddio

• Bwriedir datblygu canllaw ar fwlïo
ac aflonyddu gyda’r SLCC – caiff ei 
gyhoeddi ym mis Mai 2022

• Supplied to member councils
• Recent amendment to include low 

level repetitive requests
• Not widely used or understood
• Rarely asked for advice on its 

operation
• Development of a guide on 

bullying and harassment with 
SLCC – launch in May 2022

T
udalen 100



Model Bolisïau Cefnogi a Hunan Asesu
Model Supporting Policies and Self Assessment

• Cydraddoldeb ac Amrywiaeth

• Atal Bwlïo ac Aflonyddu

• Urddas yn y Gwaith

• Protocol Aelodau/Swyddogion

• Pecyn Hunan Asesu

• Equality and Diversity

• Anti Bullying and Harassment

• Dignity at Work

• Member/Officer Protocol

• Self Assessment Toolkit

T
udalen 101



Darparu Hyfforddiant
Provision of Training

• Modiwl Hyfforddi Rhyngweithiol

• Mae’n bosib y bydd Llywodraeth 
Cymru yn ariannu 2 le am ddim i  
bob cyngor yn 2022/23

• Cafodd ei gomisiynu yn y 
gorffennol gan ambell gyngor sir 
(bwrdeistref)

• Bydd yn cael ei ddiwygio i 
ganolbwyntio mwy ar 
ddatrysiadau lleol

• Interactive Training Module

• Possible WG funding of 2 places 
per council in 2022/23

• Has in past been commissioned 
by a few county (borough) 
councils

• Amending to focus more on 
local resolution

T
udalen 102



Ein Hymateb i Adroddiad Penn
Our Response to the Penn Report

• Cefnogi cadw’r fframwaith
presennol (mae ein 
cydweithwyr yn Lloegr yn 
eiddigeddus)

• Byddwyn yn annog cynghorau i 
ddefnyddio datrysiadau
anffurfiol

• Cefnogi Hyfforddiant gorfodol
(dylai olygu llai o gwynion)

• Cefnogi trothwy ar gyfer 
rhoddion a lletygarwch

• Support retention of current 
framework (our English 
counterparts are envious)

• We will encourage Councils to 
use informal resolution

• Support for mandatory training 
(should reduce complaints)

• Support threshold for gifts and 
hospitality

T
udalen 103



Ein Hymateb i Adroddiad Penn 
Our Response to the Penn Report

• Cefnogi cynnwys yr holl 
nodweddion gwarchodedig yn y 
Cod

• Byddai’n dda gweld y Cod yn 
cael ei ddiwygio i gynnwys
cyfeiriad at gyfryngau
cymdeithasol

• Support all protected 
characteristics being included in 
Code

• Amendment to code re: social 
media would be welcomed

T
udalen 104



Datrysiadau Lleol – Rhai pryderon
Local Resolution – A few concerns

Disgwylir mwy o gefnogaeth gan 
Un Llais Cymru (diffyg adnoddau)

Cwestiwn ynghylch annibyniaeth
Un Llais Cymru pe baem yn ceisio
helpu gyda datrysiadau lleol

Mae angen Datblygu sgiliau
aelodau a bydd angen i 
gynghorau gael hyfforddiant ar 
reoli prosesau

• Greater support from OVW 
expected (resource issues)

• Issue of independence of OVW 
if we sought to assist local 
resolution

• Skills of members need to be 
developed and Councils will 
require training in process 
management

T
udalen 105



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn bw
rpasol



Investigating Complaints Improving Services

Ymchwilio Cwynion Gwellhau Gwasanaethau

Cynhadledd

Safonau

Cymru Gyfan

All Wales 

Standards 

Conference

Public Services Ombudsman for 
Wales

Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau
Cyhoeddus Cymru 

9 Chwefror 2022 9 February 2022

Ymchwilio Cwynion

Investigating Complaints

Gwella Gwasanaethau

Improving Services

T
udalen 107



Investigating Complaints Improving Services

Ymchwilio Cwynion Gwellhau Gwasanaethau

Ein cwynion am y Cod 

Ymddygiad

Our complaints 

about the Code of 

Conduct

219 new complaints so far this year

+ 8% on 2020/21

+ 30% on 2019/20

23% increase in new complaints about 

town and community councils

11 referrals to the Adjudication Panel 

for Wales and to Standards 

Committees 

23% increase in investigations

219 o gwynion newydd hyd yn hyn

eleni
+ 8% ar 2020/21

+ 30% ar 2019/20

23% yn fwy o gwynion newydd am 

gynghorau tref a chymuned

11 o gyfeiriadau at Banel Dyfarnu

Cymru a Phwyllgorau Safonau

23% yn fwy o ymchwiliadau

Ymchwilio Cwynion

Investigating Complaints

Gwella Gwasanaethau

Improving Services

T
udalen 108



Investigating Complaints Improving Services

Ymchwilio Cwynion Gwellhau Gwasanaethau

Argymhellion Penn
Penn 

Recommendations

Greater use of the Ombudsman’s 

discretion for referral would be 

welcomed by Monitoring Officers 

and Chairs of Standards 

Committees

Cases involving bullying and 

discrimination

Cllr Owen

Cllr Stevens

Cllr Morgan

Byddai mwy o ddefnydd o 

ddisgresiwn yr Ombwdsmon ym

maes atgyfeirio yn cael ei

groesawu gan Swyddogion Monitro

a Chadeiryddion Pwyllgorau

Safonau

Achosion ynghylch bwlio a 

gwahaniaethu

Cyngh. Owen

Cyngh. Stevens

Cyngh. Morgan Cynghor Cymuned

Abertillery a Llanhilleth

Abertillery and Llanhilleth

Community Council 

Caernarfon Royal Town 

Council and Gwynedd 
Council 

Cyngor Tref Frenhinol

Caernarfon a Chynghor
Gwynedd

Tywyn Town Council Cynghor Tref Tywyn

Ymchwilio Cwynion

Investigating Complaints

Gwella Gwasanaethau

Improving Services

T
udalen 109



Investigating Complaints Improving Services

Ymchwilio Cwynion Gwellhau Gwasanaethau

Argymhellion Penn
Penn 

Recommendations

Increased use of local resolution 

of complaints

Mandatory training on the Code of 

Conduct for all members of 

principal councils and community 

councils

Interim Case Tribunals

Consideration of the role of 

Standards Committees 

Datrys mwy o gwynion yn lleol

Hyfforddiant gorfodol ar y Cod 

Ymddygiad i holl aelodau prif

gynghorau a chynghorau cymuned

Tribiwnlysoedd Achos Interim

Ystyried rôl Pwyllgorau Safonau

Ymchwilio Cwynion

Investigating Complaints

Gwella Gwasanaethau

Improving Services

T
udalen 110



Investigating Complaints Improving Services

Ymchwilio Cwynion Gwellhau Gwasanaethau

Gair cyn gadael Parting message

‘Members of the public would have 

reasonably expected its elected 

representatives to show leadership 

and to lead by example in 

accordance with the Nolan 

principles. During the Covid-19 

pandemic, unnecessary, intemperate 

comments and political rivalry about 

issues of vital importance such as 

pharmacy arrangements, could 

reasonably be regarded as bringing 

the office of Councillor and the 

Relevant Authorities into disrepute.’ 

‘Byddai aelodau’r cyhoedd yn

rhesymol ddisgwyl i’w gynrychiolwyr

etholedig ddangos arweiniad ac 

arwain drwy esiampl yn unol ag 

egwyddorion Nolan. Yn ystod

pandemig Covid-19, gellid yn

rhesymol ystyried bod sylwadau

diangen ac eithafol a chystadleuaeth

wleidyddol ynghylch materion

hollbwysig megis trefniadau

fferylliaeth, yn dwyn anfri ar swydd y 

Cynghorydd a’r Awdurdodau

Perthnasol.’

Ymchwilio Cwynion

Investigating Complaints

Gwella Gwasanaethau

Improving Services

T
udalen 111



Investigating Complaints Improving Services

Ymchwilio Cwynion Gwellhau Gwasanaethau

Diolch Thank you

Ymchwilio Cwynion

Investigating Complaints

Gwella Gwasanaethau

Improving Services

T
udalen 112



Adolygiad o’r Fframwaith Safonau Moesegol
Review of the Ethical Standards Framework

Ymateb Llywodraeth Cymru

a meysydd posibl ar gyfer deddfwriaeth

Welsh Government response 

and potential areas for legislation 

T
udalen 113



Pam adolygu’r Fframwaith Safonau Moesegol?
Why review the Ethical Standards Framework?

• Fe’i sefydlwyd dros 20 mlynedd yn ôl

• Established over 20 years ago

• Deddf Llywodraeth Leol ac Etholiadau (Cymru) 2021

• Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 

• Cyd-destun y polisïau cydraddoldeb ac amrywiaeth presennol

• Current equality and diversity policy context

• A yw’n dal i fod yn addas i’w ddiben?

• Is it still fit for purpose?

T
udalen 114



Yr adroddiad a’r camau nesaf
Report and next steps

• Croesawu’r adroddiad a’r argymhellion

• Welcome the report and recommendations

• Fe’u cyhoeddwyd ar wefan Llywodraeth Cymru ar 14 Hydref 2021

• Published on Welsh Government website on 14 October 2021

• Y Datganiad Ysgrifenedig a gyhoeddwyd gan Rebecca Evans AS, y 
Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol

• Written Statement issued by Rebecca Evans, MS, Minister for Finance and 
Local Government

• Ystyried yr argymhellion yn fewnol

• Internal consideration of recommendations

• Ymgysylltu â phartneriaid

• Engagement with partners

T
udalen 115



Gweithredu’r argymhellion
Implementing the recommendations

• Camau gweithredu gan Lywodraeth Cymru

• Action by Welsh Government 

• Camau gweithredu gan bartneriaid

• Action by partners

T
udalen 116



Eich sylwadau ar y canlynol?
Your thoughts on? 

• Pennu trothwy o ran datgan unrhyw rodd, lletygarwch, buddiant
materol neu fantais – cytundeb gwirfoddol

• Setting a threshold for declarations of any gift, hospitality, 
material benefit or advantage – voluntary agreement  

• Datrys mwy o gwynion yn lleol

• Increased use of local resolution of complaints

• Sefydlu Fforwm Cymru Gyfan ar gyfer cadeiryddion annibynnol
pwyllgorau safonau ac ailsefydlu’r gynhadledd flynyddol

• Establish an all-Wales Forum for independent chairs of 
standards committees and re-establish an annual conference

T
udalen 117



Unrhyw gwestiynau?
Any questions?

T
udalen 118



Manylion cyswllt
Contact details

Llywodraeth Cymru

Yr Is-adran Democratiaeth Llywodraeth Leol

LGDemocracy@llyw.cymru

Welsh Government 

Local Government Democracy Division

LGDemocracy@gov.wales

T
udalen 119



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn bw
rpasol



STANDARDS COMMITTEE NAME

Date of Meeting Monday, 4 July 2022

Report Subject Update on the Creation of National Standards Forum

Report Author Chief Officer (Governance) 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

One of the recommendations made as part of the Penn Review of the Ethical 
Regime is that the current forum for Independent Members of Standards 
Committees should be extended over the whole of Wales, thereby creating a 
National Forum for Standards Committees.

The forum was created originally to provide a support network and forum for 
exchanging good practice between the standards committees in North Wales.  It 
has latterly been extended to cover 2 councils in mid Wales.

Following the publication of the Penn report all the monitoring officers in Wales 
were asked whether their authority would support the expansion of the current 
forum to the whole of Wales.  All authorities have responded positively and the 
WLGA may be willing to help support the expanded forum.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1 That the support for a National Standards Forum be welcomed.

REPORT DETAILS

1.00 EXPLAINING THE STANDARDS FORUM

1.01 The Mid and North Wales Standards Forum was created as an opportunity 
for independent Chairs of Standards Committees to 

1) Exchange ideas and best practice
2) Establish a support network

Tudalen 121

Eitem ar gyfer y Rhaglen 6



3) Debate issues and topics of common relevance
4) Receive training

The body was originally created by the Monitoring Officers in North Wales.  
In 2019 the forum agreed to include 2 Councils from mid Wales.

1.02 Support for the forum has, until now, been provided by the monitoring 
officers themselves on a rotation basis.  Each Council takes a turn 
“hosting” the meeting and the Monitoring Officer for that Council would 
prepare the agenda, advise the forum and draft the minutes.  By 
convention other Monitoring Officers would not attend in order to save time 
and duplication of effort.  Meetings of the forum notionally took place twice 
a year but that was subject to resource pressures in the Council next due 
to act as host.

1.03 Following the Penn Report all Monitoring Officers in Wales agreed to ask 
their Standards Committees whether that forum should now be extended 
to the whole of Wales in line with a recommendation in that report.  All 
authorities have confirmed their agreement.  The WLGA may be willing to 
provide the secretariat.  Meetings are due to take place over the summer 
to establish draft terms of reference and explore the provision of support.

2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01 If the WLGA is willing to provide the secretariat for the forum then this 
would represent a small reduction in the burden on this Council. 

2.02 Previously meetings were peripatetic, moving from Council to Council.  
Given the wider geographical spread it would make sense for at least 
some to be hosted remotely.  Any meetings taking place physically would 
need to be held a central location accessible to all part of Wales.  This 
would result in an increase in the time commitment, cost and carbon 
footprint to attend.

3.00 CONSULTATIONS REQUIRED / CARRIED OUT

3.01 All authorities in Wales have been consulted.

4.00 RISK MANAGEMENT

4.01 The extension of the forum does not create any significant risks.  Indeed 
by broadening the membership it will serve to provide a greater opportunity 
for the exchange of knowledge and good practice.  

5.00 APPENDICES

5.01 None.
Tudalen 122



6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.01 None.

Contact Officer: Gareth Owens Chief Officer Governance
Telephone: 01352 702344
E-mail: gareth.legal@flintshire.gov.uk

7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

7.01 Penn Review of the Ethical Regime - a review commissioned by Welsh 
Government and conducted by Richard Penn looking into the Code of 
Conduct, how it is enforced, how training is undertaken and all other 
mechanisms to ensure high standards of ethical behaviour.

Tudalen 123

mailto:gareth.legal@flintshire.gov.uk


Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn bwrpasol



STANDARDS COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting Monday 4th July 2022

Report Subject Rolling Review of the Constitution

Report Author Chief Officer Governance

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The constitution contains a number of codes and protocols that 
 give more detailed guidance on how to apply the Code of Conduct in 

specific situations;
 create processes for handling issues in an ethical manner.

It is good practice to periodically review the codes and protocols to ensure that 
they are up to date and remain pertinent. All the codes and protocols were 
reviewed during the last Council term and so it is appropriate that they are 
reviewed again for this Council term.

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. That the timetable for reviewing codes and protocols are adopted.

REPORT DETAILS

1.00 EXPLAINING THE REVIEW PROCESS

1.01 The Constitution contains the following codes and protocols :-

 Members’ Code of Conduct                                    Planning Code of Practice*
 Protocol on the production of 

Councillor newsletters
 Confidential reporting 

procedure (2 parts)
 Officers’ Code of Conduct  Protocol on Member/officer 

relations

Tudalen 125

Eitem ar gyfer y Rhaglen 7



 Protocol for Members in their 
dealings with
contractors/developers

* Note Planning Code of Practice falls within the remit of the Planning 
Strategy Group and results of review would be reported to it.

1.02 These codes and protocols have all been introduced at different times and 
have been subject to periodic review albeit not at regular intervals. It is 
appropriate that all such codes and protocols shall be reviewed from time 
to time to ensure that they are both up to date and indeed still required.

1.03 The Committee has previously agreed to a rolling review and has 
completed such a review once. It is timely to review the codes and 
protocols again. Paragraph 1.06 shows the suggested programme of 
review so that the Standards Committee can be satisfied that all codes and 
protocols are reviewed as part of a regular cycle.

1.04 The interval each code and protocol is reviewed should depend on the 
importance of that document and the frequency with which it is likely to or 
might need to be changed. So for example, the Code of Conduct for 
Members is a very important document and should be checked annually 
even though the national model code on which it is based is not likely to 
have changed that frequently. Other than that I would recommend that the 
committee aim to have all codes and protocols reviewed once within a 3 
year cycle which would match the same cycle that has been adopted for 
other provisions within the Constitution.

1.05 Clearly, should there be a need to change any code or protocol outside of 
the cycle then that can be done and then the cycle can be amended 
accordingly. For example, Welsh Government may wish to review the 
Code of Conduct in response to the Penn Review of the Ethical Regime.

1.06 I have recommended a timetable for reviewing the codes and protocols 
below :-

Year January July December

2022 Members’ Code 
of Conduct

2023 Officers’ Code 
of Conduct

Members’ Code of 
Conduct

Protocol on 
Member/Officer 
relations

2024 Confidential 
Reporting 
Procedure

Protocol for Members 
in their dealings with 
contractors/developers. 
Members’ Code of 
Conduct.

Protocol on the 
production of 
Councillor 
newsletters

2025 Planning Code 
of Practice 

Tudalen 126



2.00 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

2.01 The rolling review of the codes and protocols can be supported within 
existing resources.

3.00 CONSULTATION REQUIRED AND UNDERTAKEN

3.01 None as a result of this report.

4.00 RISK IMPLICATIONS

4.01 The rolling review will ensure that the ethical rules of the Council remain 
up to date and pertinent.

 

5.00 APPENDICES
5.01 None

6.00 LIST OF ACCESSIBLE BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.01 None

Contact Officer: Gareth Owens, Chief Officer Governance
Telephone: 01352 702344
E-mail: gareth.legal@flintshire.gov.uk

7.00 GLOSSARY OF TERMS

7.01 Penn Review of the Ethical Regime -  a review commissioned by Welsh 
Government and conducted by Richard Penn looking into the Code of 
Conduct, how it is enforced, how training is undertaken and all other 
mechanisms to ensure high standards of ethical behaviour.

Tudalen 127

mailto:gareth.legal@flintshire.gov.uk


Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn bwrpasol



Appendix 2

FLINTSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL – STANDARDS COMMITTEE – FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23

Date of Meeting Topic Notes/Decision/Action

3 July 2023  Training
 Dispensations
 Forward Work Plan

 8 May 2023  Training
 Dispensations
 Overview of Ethical Complaints
 Forward Work Plan

6 March 2023  Training
 Dispensations
 Overview of Ethical Complaints
 Draft Annual Report
 Forward Work Plan

9 January 2023  Training
 Dispensations
 Forward Work Plan

7 November 
2022
Joint meeting 
with T&CCs

 Training
 Dispensations
 Overview of Ethical Complaints
 Items raised by Town and Community Councils
 Forward Work Plan

 

5 September 
2022

 Training
 Dispensations
 Feedback from Ethical Liaison Meeting Report by Gareth Owens

T
udalen 129

E
item

 ar gyfer y R
haglen 8



Appendix 2

 Independent Member Visits to Town and Community Councils
 Update on Recruitment of a Town and Community Council

Representative
 Forward Work Plan

Report by Gareth Owens

Reports to be scheduled -
Survey on the Production of Councillor Newsletters

T
udalen 130


	Rhaglen
	3 Cofnodion
	4 Rhaglen Gynefino ar gyfer Cynghorwyr
	Enc. 1 for Induction Programme for Councillors
	Enc. 2 for Induction Programme for Councillors
	Enc. 3 for Induction Programme for Councillors

	5 Cynhadledd Safonau Cymru Gyfan 2022 Adroddiad yn ôl
	Enc. 1 for All Wales Standards Conference 2022 Report Back
	Enc. 2 for All Wales Standards Conference 2022 Report Back
	Structure Bookmarks
	Table of contents 


	Enc. 3 for All Wales Standards Conference 2022 Report Back
	Enc. 4 for All Wales Standards Conference 2022 Report Back
	Enc. 5 for All Wales Standards Conference 2022 Report Back
	Enc. 6 for All Wales Standards Conference 2022 Report Back

	6 Diweddariad ar greu Fforwm Cenedlaethol i Aelodau Annibynnol
	7 Adolygiad Parhaus o'r Cyfansoddiad
	8 Rhaglen Gwaith i'r Dyfodol

